สัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินบริเวณพื้นที่ป่าปลูกพืชวงศ์ยางระยะต้นกล้าที่มีอายุการปลูกที่แตกต่างกัน



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาสัตววิทยา ภาควิชาชีววิทยา คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2558 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# SOIL MICROARTHROPODS IN REFORESTED AREA OF DIPTEROCARPUS SEEDLINGS AT DIFFERENT STAGES

Miss Chadaphorn Seweewallop



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Zoology Department of Biology Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2015 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	SOIL MICROARTHROPODS IN REFORESTED AREA
	OF DIPTEROCARPUS SEEDLINGS AT DIFFERENT
	STAGES
Ву	Miss Chadaphorn Seweewallop
Field of Study	Zoology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Chatchawan Chaisuekul, Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Nipada Ruankaew Disyatat, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

\_\_\_\_\_Dean of the Faculty of Science

(Associate Professor Polkit Sangvanich, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE Chairman (Noppadon Kitana, Ph.D.) (Noppadon Kitana, Ph.D.) (Assistant Professor Chatchawan Chaisuekul, Ph.D.) (Nipada Ruankaew Disyatat, Ph.D.) (Nipada Ruankaew Disyatat, Ph.D.) (Assistant Professor Duangkhae Sitthicharoenchai, Ph.D.) (Assistant Professor Vacharobon Thirakhupt, Ph.D.) ชฎาภรณ์ เสวีวัลลภ : สัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินบริเวณพื้นที่ป่าปลูกพืชวงศ์ยางระยะต้นกล้าที่ มีอายุการปลูกที่แตกต่างกัน (SOIL MICROARTHROPODS IN REFORESTED AREA OF DIPTEROCARPUS SEEDLINGS AT DIFFERENT STAGES) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. ดร. ชัชวาล ใจชื่อกุล, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: ดร. นิพาดา เรือนแก้ว ดิษยทัต, 124 หน้า.

ความหลากหลายและความชุกชุมของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินและปัจจัยทางกายภาพและ ชีวภาพได้ถูกประเมินในพื้นที่การปลูกป่าฟื้นฟูด้วยต้นกล้าไม้วงศ์ยางนาที่ใส่เชื้อราเอคโตไมคอร์ไรซาที่มีอายุ การปลูก 1 ปี, 2 ปี และพื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟู ในพื้นที่จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย อำเภอแก่งคอย จังหวัด สระบุรี สัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินถูกสกัดด้วย Berlese-Tullgren funnels จากตัวอย่างดินที่เก็บเดือนละ หนึ่งครั้งตั้งแต่เดือนตุลาคม พ.ศ. 2557 ถึงเดือน ตุลาคม พ.ศ. 2558 พบสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินมีความ ชุกชุมสูงสุดในพื้นที่ป่าปลูกพืชวงศ์ยางอายุ 2 ปี (3,596 ± 227 ตัวต่อตารางเมตร) อายุ 1 ปี (2,989 ± 334 ตัวต่อตารางเมตร) และพื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูก (2,496 ± 361 ตัวต่อตารางเมตร) (F = 1.988, df = 2, 73, p = 0.051) ตามลำดับ โดยพบสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินทั้งหมด 9 กลุ่ม ซึ่งไร (74-83%) และแมลงหางดีด (15-21%) เป็นชนิดพันธุ์เด่นในทั้ง 3 พื้นที่ ตะขาบฝอย (symphylan), กิ้งกือ (spirobilid), ตะขาบ (geophilomorph) และแมลงเสี้ยนนม (proturan) มีความชุกชุมในพื้นที่ที่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟูมากกว่าพื้นที่ที่ไม่ มีการปลูก ในขณะที่แมงป่องเทียม (pseudoscorpion) มีความชุกชุมสูงในพื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูก นอกจากนี้ พบว่ากลุ่มของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินที่มีบทบาทเป็นผู้ย่อยสลายและกินรามีความชุกชุมมากสุดในทั้ง 3 พื้นที่ รองลงมาคือกลุ่มของผู้ล่าและผู้ย่อยสลายตามลำดับ สำหรับความหลากหลายของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาด เล็กในดินพบว่าบริเวณพื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูก มีค่าดัชนีความหลากหลายในระดับชนิดพันธุ์เชิงสัณฐาน (morphospecies) ของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินต่ำสุด (H = 0.85) เมื่อเทียบกับพื้นที่ที่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟู อายุ 1  $\, \mathrm{\vec{U}}\,$  (H  $^{\prime}$  = 0.92) และพื้นที่ที่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟูอายุ 2  $\, \mathrm{\vec{U}}\,$  (H  $^{\prime}$  = 0.93) ปัจจัยทางกายภาพและชีวภาพใน พื้นที่พบว่าความชื้นในดินแสดงความแตกต่างอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ (F = 93.602, df = 2, 33, p < 0.001) โดยมีค่ามากในพื้นที่ที่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟูอายุ 2 ปี 1 ปี และ พื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูกตามลำดับ อย่างไรก็ ตามพบความสัมพันธ์ของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดินกับค่าความชื้นในดินเฉพาะในพื้นที่ที่ไม่มีการปลูกฟื้นฟู (r = 0.752, p = 0.003) สรุปผลการศึกษาแสดงให้เห็นว่าอายุของต้นกล้าที่เพิ่มขึ้นมีความสัมพันธ์ต่อปัจจัย แวดล้อมหลายประการ โดยเฉพาะอย่างยิ่งความชื้นในดินที่มีความสัมพันธ์ต่อทิศทางการเพิ่มขึ้นของความ หลากหลายและความชุกชุมของสัตว์ขาปล้องขนาดเล็กในดิน

ภาควิชา	ชีววิทยา	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	สัตววิทยา	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
สีโออะสีอะเอ		
ปการคกษา	2558	ย เอทองอ จ.พกวงเล.เว.ท

#### # # 5672157723 : MAJOR ZOOLOGY

KEYWORDS: REFORESTATION / SOIL FAUNA / EARLY SUCCESSION

CHADAPHORN SEWEEWALLOP: SOIL MICROARTHROPODS IN REFORESTED AREA OF DIPTEROCARPUS SEEDLINGS AT DIFFERENT STAGES. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. CHATCHAWAN CHAISUEKUL, Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: NIPADA RUANKAEW DISYATAT, Ph.D., 124 pp.

The diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods and physical and biological factors had been evaluated in 1-year and 2-year reforested areas planted with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizae and a non-reforested area at Chulalongkorn University Area, Saraburi Province, Thailand. Soil microarthropods were extracted with Berlese-Tullgren funnels from monthly collected soil samples from October 2014 to October 2015. The total abundance of soil microarthropods was highest in the 2year dipterocarpus reforestation area  $(3,596 \pm 227 \text{ ind./m}^2)$ , followed by the 1-year reforestation area  $(2,989 \pm 334 \text{ ind./m}^2)$  and the non-reforested area  $(2,496 \pm 361 \text{ ind./m}^2)$ , respectively (F = 1.988, df = 2, 73, p = 0.051). Mites (74-83%) and collembolans (15-21%) were the most abundant groups from the nine groups of collected soil microarthropods in all three areas. Symphylans, spirobilids, geophilomorphs and proturans were more abundant in the reforestation areas than the non-reforested area, while pseudoscorpions were most abundant in the non-reforested area. Detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were the most abundant guild in all three areas, followed by predatory arthropods and detritivore microarthropods. Diversity index of soil microarthropods at morphospecies level was lowest in the non-reforested area (H' = 0.85) when compared to the 1-year reforestation area (H' = 0.92) and the 2-year reforestation area (H' = 0.93). Soil moisture was significantly different in three areas (F = 93.602, df = 2, 33, p < 0.001), and was highest in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, followed by the 1-year reforestation area and the non-reforested area, respectively. However, soil microarthropods were positively correlated with soil moisture only in the non-reforested area (r = 0.752, p = 0.003). This study shows that increasing age progression of seedling affected several environmental factors, particularly soil moisture, which in turn relate to an increasing trend of the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods.

Department:BiologyStudent's SignatureField of Study:ZoologyAdvisor's SignatureAcademic Year:2015Co-Advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Chatchawan Chaisuekul, for providing guidance and suggestion for me from the initial to the final stage of my research. I would also like to thank my co-advisor, Dr. Nipada Ruankaew Disyatat, for suggestion and kind support on this research.

I gratefully acknowledge the valuable discussions and comments of the chairman, Dr. Noppadon Kitana and the examiner, Assistant Professor. Dr. Duangkhae Sitthichareonchai and Assistant Professor Dr. Vacharobon Thirakhupt.

I would like to thank Dr. Marut Fuangarworn and Miss Pawara Pachit for suggestions on sample collection. I appreciate Dr. Anusorn Pansuk and Miss Suttinee Lhaotaew for assistance.

This thesis was supported by the Plant Genetic Conservation Project Under the Royal Initiative of Her Royal Highness Princess Maha Chakri Sirindhorn-Chulalongkorn University (CU-RSPG) grant, The 90th anniversary of Chulalongkorn University fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund) and Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR).

Finally, I take this opportunity to express the profound gratitude from my deep heart to my beloved parents, grandparents, and my siblings for their love and continuous support. I am also greatly thankful to all my friends for the great time, experiences, and moral support.

# CONTENTS

Pag	е
THAI ABSTRACTiv	
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi	
CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLEx	
LIST OF FIGURE	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Rationale	
1.2 Objectives	
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Soil microarthropods	
2.1.1 Taxonomic diversity	
2.1.2 Functional role of soil microarthropods9	
2.1.3 Role as bioindicators	
2.1.4 Feeding guilds type of soil microarthropods	
2.1.5 Extraction of soil microarthropods11	
2.1.6 Factors influence soil microarthropods	
2.1.7 Dispersal of soil microarthropods13	
2.2 Mycorrhizal fungi	
2.2.1 Types of mycorrhizal fungi	
2.2.2 Application of ectomycorrhizae in forest restoration	
2.2.3 The relationship between ectomycorrhizae and soil microarthropods 17	

# viii

# Page

2.3 Dipterocarpus trees as ectomycorhizal host species	18
CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY	20
3.1 Study sites	20
3.2 Sampling	22
3.3 Soil microarthropod identification	22
3.4 Biological factors	31
3.5 Physical factors	32
3.6 Statistical analyses	35
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	38
4.1 Physical and biological factors	38
4.2 Soil microarthropods	48
4.2.1 Abundance of soil microarthropods	48
4.2.2 Diversity indices and similarity index of soil microarthropods	71
4.2.3 Guilds of soil microarthropods	74
4.3 Relationships between biological factors, physical factors and abundance	of
soil microarthropods	79
4.3.1 Principal component analysis (PCA)	79
4.3.2 Correlation analysis	83
4.3.3 Multiple linear regression	90
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION	92
5.1 Reforestation with environmental factors	92
5.2 Soil microarthropods community with reforestation	94
5.3 Projection of future abundance and composition of soil microathropods i	n
the area	97

# Page

5.4 The benefits of reforestation with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with	
ECM fungi	97
CHAPTER VI CONCLUSION	101
Recommendations	102
REFERENCES	104
APPENDIX	112
VITA	124



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University ix

# LIST OF TABLE

Table 1 Classification of soil fauna (Hopkin, 1997; Neher et al., 1999)         4
Table 2 Taxonomic diversity of soil microarthropods       6
<b>Table 3</b> Physical and biological factors (mean $\pm$ SE) measured in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). P-value from ANOVA with LSD (parametric). Same superscript letters means no significant difference at $p$ $\leq 0.05$
Table 4 Physical and biological factors (mean $\pm$ SE) measured between seasons
in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). Same superscript letters denotes no significant difference between wet and dry seasons of the same reforested stage. (Independent samples t-test, $p \le 0.05$ )
Table 5 Number of morphospecies of soil microarthropods in the dipterocarpus
reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)
Table 6 Abundance of soil microarthropods in the dipterocarpus reforestation         areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested         area (RF0). P-value obtained from ANOVA with LSD. Superscript letter in
the same row indicate no significant difference at $p \leq 0.05$
Table 7 Abundance (average ± SE) of soil microarthropods (individuals/m <sup>2</sup> ) byfamily in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)
Table8 (Cont.). Abundance (average ± SE) of soil microarthropods (individuals/m²) by family in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)

Table 15 Abundance of soil microarthropods in each guild in the dipterocarpus
reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the
non-reforested area (RF0), ANOVA with LSD. Same superscript letters
means no significant difference at $p \le 0.05$
Table 16 Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin index (KMO) and Bartlett's Test       80
Table 17 Pearson's Correlation in the non-reforested area
Table 18 Pearson's Correlation in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area
Table 19 Pearson's Correlation in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area
Table 20 Pearson's Correlation analysis for guilds abundance and environmental
factors
Table 21 Pearson's Correlation analysis for abundance in each group and
environmental factors in three areas
Table 22 The abundance of soil microarthropods in tropical forests
Table 23 The abundance of Acari and Collembola in tropical forests
Table 24 The abundance of Proture and Sumphyle in transcel forests 100

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University xii

# LIST OF FIGURE

Figure 1 Size classification of soil fauna by body length (Briones, 2014)	5
Figure 2 Root infected with ectotrophic mycorrhizal fungi (Taiz and Zeiger, 2002)	. 15
Figure 3 Association of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi with a section of a plant root (Taiz and Zeiger, 2002)	. 16
Figure 4 The forest map in Southeast Asia (Stibig et al., 2004)	. 19
Figure 5 Map of Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, Central Thailand (Wikipedia, 2016).	. 20
Figure 6 Location of the study areas from pond excavation in the non-reforested areas (A and B), 1-year reforested areas (C and D) and 2-year reforested areas	. 23
Figure 7 Non-reforested areas in plot one, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 24
Figure 8 Non-reforested areas in plot two, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 25
Figure 9 One-year reforested areas in plot one with seedlings planted in 2013, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 26
Figure 10 One-year reforested areas in plot two with seedlings planted in 2013, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 27
Figure 11 Two-year reforested areas in plot one with seedlings planted in 2012, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 28
Figure 12 Two-year reforested areas in plot two with seedlings planted in 2012, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)	. 29
Figure 13 The design of sampling plots for soil sampling	. 30
Figure 14 Berlese-Tullgren funnels for extraction of soil microarthropods	. 30

Figure 15 Percent ECM infection counts were obtained from soil sample in
reforestation areas
Figure 16 Quadrat for the estimation of herbaceous cover
Figure 17 Thermometer
Figure 18 The settling of particles in soil suspension
Figure 19 Soil textural triangle (SoilSensor, 2011)
Figure 20 Climate conditions at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, based on air temperature and precipitation from October 2014 to October 2015
Figure 21 The October 2014 to October 2015 climograph at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, based on air temperature and precipitation
<b>Figure 22</b> Soil temperature (average $\pm$ SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test, $p \le 0.05$ )
Figure 23 Soil temperature (average ± SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015
Figure 24 Soil moisture (average $\pm$ SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test, $p \le 0.05$ )

XV

Figure 32 The number of morphospecies in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas	
at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area	
(RF0)	. 52
Figure 33 Mesostigmata found in the dinterocarous reforestation areas at the 1-	
year and 2 year stages and the nen referented area from October 2014	
te October 2015	гo
Figure 34 Prostigmata found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to	
October 2015	. 54
Figure 35 Astigmata found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to	
October 2015	55
Figure 36 Oribatida found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to	
October 2015	. 56
Figure 37 Collembola found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-	
year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014	
to October 2015	. 57
CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	
Figure 38 Araneae found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to	
October 2015	. 58
Figure 39 Diplura found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and	
2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October	
2015	. 58
Figure 40 Symphyla found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to	
October 2015	. 59

Figure 41 Geophilomorpha found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the	
1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014	
to October 2015	59
Figure 42 Pseudoscorpionada found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at	
the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October	
2014 to October 2015	59
Figure 43 Spirobolida found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages from October 2014 to October 2015	50
Figure 44 Protura found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	
and 2-year stages from October 2014 to October 20156	50
Figure 45 The abundance in each group in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas	
at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area	
(RF0)	51
Figure 46 The abundance in soil microarthropod groups in the dipterocarpus	
reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the	
non-reforested area (RF0)6	52
Figure 47 Relative abundance of different suborders of Acari in the dipterocarpus	
reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the	
non-reforested plot (RF0)6	<u>ś</u> 7
Figure 48 Relative abundance of different families of Collembola in the	
dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2)	
stages and the non-reforested plot (RF0)6	58
Figure 49 Log-abundance of different groups of soil microarthropods in the	
dipterocarpus reforestation areas between seasons at the 1-year (RF1)	
and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). White and	
gray bars represent wet and dry seasons, respectively. Microarthropod	
groups are arranged from the most abundant to the least abundant in	
each area6	59

Figure 50 Morphospecies accumulation curve (Coleman rarefaction method) in
the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2)
stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)71
Figure 51 Relative abundance of guilds in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at
the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested plot
(RF0)
<b>Figure 52</b> Number of rearrangements of quilds in the distancements referentation
Figure 52 Number of morphospecies of guilds in the dipterocarpus reforestation
areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested
plot (RF0)
Figure 53 Total abundance of soil microarthropods by guild in the dipterocarpus
reforestation areas between seasons at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2)
stages and the non-reforested area (RF0): (a) predator, (b) detritivore and
(c) detrito-fungivore. Same letters denote no significant difference
between wet and dry seasons of the same reforested stage.
(Independent samples t-test, $p \le 0.05$ )
Figure 54 Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the non-
reforested area
Figure 55 Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the
dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year
Figure 56 Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the
dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 2-year
Figure 57 Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) of environmental
factors in the non-reforested area (0) and the dipterocarpus reforestation
areas at 1-year (1) and 2-year stages (2)82
Figure 58 Framework of the study101

## CHAPTER I

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Rationale

Soil microarthropods are small invertebrates that inhabit soil ecosystems and have very important roles in controlling the rate of litter decomposition and, therefore, nutrient cycling (Heneghan and Bolger, 1998; Kardol et al., 2011; Moore et al., 1988), and soil formation (Rumble and Gange, 2013). They also control the population dynamics of organisms in soils (Rusek, 1998) and soil fungal composition and activity (Behan-Pelletier, 2003). Dominant soil microarthropods are commonly springtails and mites found in several habitats, such as montane spruce forest (Farská et al., 2014), hill evergreen forest, agricultural areas (Cortet et al., 2002; Tabaglio et al., 2009) and green roofs (Rumble and Gange, 2013). Most soil microarthropods are detritivores, and therefore assist in decomposition of organic matter (Kardol et al., 2011) and movement of fungal spores through soils (Gormsen et al., 2004). They are commonly found in fertile soils, so they can be used as biological indicators for soil quality and changes of reforested area.

At present, deforestation in Thailand has continually deteriorated the soil ecosystems. The adverse impacts come from the increase of activities, such as urbanization or agricultural intensification which resulted in the loss of biodiversity. Restoration of forest ecosystems is needed to decrease or revert the impacts of deforestation. Forest restoration can be done with various techniques which are appropriate for different levels of forest degradation. Common restoration techniques include: protection (prevention of encroachment, fire, cattle and hunting of seed dispersers), enhancing the natural processes of forest regeneration (using seedlings, saplings and live stumps of indigenous forest tree species, and encourage seed dispersal includes the protective measures), planting framework species (planting mixtures of 20-30 indigenous forest tree species) and enrichment planting with planting nurse trees (such as hardy nitrogen-fixing trees) (Elliott et al., 2013).

One of the forest restoration methods currently applied at Chulalongkorn University is planting dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi (ECM). Ectomycorrhizal associations are formed between ECM fungal species and trees from a restricted group of higher plant families, such as Pinaceae, Betulaceae, Fabaceae, Myrtaceae, Fagaceae and Dipterocarpaceae. Trees in the Dipterocarpaceae dominate deciduous forests in South East Asia, and form the most important commercial hardwoods in the region (Ingleby et al., 1998; Yazid et al., 1994). There has been much speculation regarding the role of ectomycorrhizae in determining the successful establishment and survival of Dipterocarpaceae seedlings, and most ECM fungi are able to establish symbioses with a broad range of hosts in both temperate and tropical ecosystems (Phosri et al., 2012). ECM fungi help plants capture nutrients, such as phosphorus, sulfur, nitrogen and micronutrients from the soil (Bardgett et al., 1993; Read, 1991; Yazid et al., 1994), which are important in physiological processes, growth and survival rate of trees and may have positive effects on soil microarthropods through increase of organic matter in soil. ECM fungi could be food sources for fungivorous soil microarthropods.

Reforestation with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ECM fungi would likely help to increase diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods, and may consequently increase the abundance of predators, especially with increasing age of seedlings (Siddiky et al., 2012). Some environmental factors, such as soil moisture and soil temperature, influence the abundance of soil microarthropods because the soil microarthropods are highly sensitive to changes in environment and habitat. Rising temperature has resulted in increasing abundance of soil microarthropods (Harte et al., 1996). Reforestation with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ECM fungi would likely help to maintain appropriate soil temperature, soil moisture and other factors to promote plants growth over the increasing age the reforested plots. Chulalongkorn University began a reforestation effort using dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizae to promote the growth and survival of tree seedlings at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, which are divided into three areas, as follows:

- 1. Non-reforested areas
- 2. One-year old reforested areas (planted with ECM dipterocarpus seedlings in 2013)
- 3. Two-year old reforested areas (planted with ECM dipterocarpus seedlings in 2012)

Thus, it is important to know how the soil microarthropod community would change during reforestation stages, as well as biological and physical factors that might influence the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods. The results of this study will help in monitoring, planning, managing, and restoration of forest ecosystems.

### 1.2 Objectives

1.2.1 To evaluate the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods in reforested area of dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizae at different stages

1.2.2 To study physical and biological factors in reforested areas of dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizae at different stages

1.2.3 To study the relationships of physical and biological factors with the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods.

# CHAPTER II

# LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Soil microarthropods

Soil microarthropods are small invertebrates that are classified into the soil mesofauna group with a body size between 0.2-2.0 mm (Briones, 2014; Neher et al., 1999; Swift et al., 1979) (Table 1 and Figure 1). Soil microarthropods are extremely important in the ecosystems where they inhabit because of their diversity and their habitats. Typical microarthropods, such as mites, springtails, pseudoscorpions, and small diplopods (Figure 1), are found throughout the soil profile, in surface litter, on grasses, herbs and low-growing shrubs, bark, twigs and leaves of trees, and in aquatic, semi-aquatic and coastal habitats (Behan-Pelletier, 1999; Rusek, 1998).

A CONTRACT AND A CONTRACT				
Class	Example (s)	Biomass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	Length (mm)	
Microfauna	Protozoa	1.5-6.0	0.005-0.2	
Mesofauna	Mites, Collembolans	0.01-10	0.2-2	
Macrofauna	Millipedes, Centipedes	0.1-2.5	2-20	
Megafauna	Earthworms	10-40	>20	

Table 1 Classification of soil fauna (Hopkin, 1997; Neher et al., 1999)

The majority of arthropods inhabit in soils. Surveys of rainforest arthropods found about 42 million of arthropods per hectare and more than half of them are collembolans and mites that inhabit in soil (Hopkin, 1997; Stork, 1988).



Figure 1 Size classification of soil fauna by body length (Briones, 2014)

# 2.1.1 Taxonomic diversity

At the class level, soil microarthropods belong to the Arachnida, Insecta, Symphyla, Diplopoda and Chilopoda (Table 2). Important groups are described below.

Class	Sub class or Order	Suborder	Common name
Arachnida	Acari	Mesostigmata	Mesostigmatid mites
		Prostigmata	Prostigmatid mites
		Astigmata	Astigmatid mites
		Oribatida	Oribatid mites
	Araneae		Spiders
	Pseudoscorpionida		Pseudoscorpions
Insecta	Collembola		Springtails
	Diplura		Diplurans
	Protura		Proturans
Symphyla			Symphylans
Diplopoda			Millipedes
Chilopoda			Centipedes

 Table 2 Taxonomic diversity of soil microarthropods

# 1. Mesostigmata

Mesostigmata or Gamasida are group of mites found in a wide range of habitats. Mesostigmatid mites are dominant predators of nematodes, collembolans, insect larvae in soil, and those living on plants, making them efficiently control pests like spider mites. These mites have been used as efficient biological control agents in above-ground ecosystems (Dindal, 1990). They are also used as bioindicators in agroecosystems (Koehler, 1999).

#### 2. Astigmata

Soil mites in Astigmata are almost entirely composed of detritus feeder guilds. Astigmatid populations are widely found in soil and litter (Dindal, 1990).

#### 3. Oribatida

Oribatid mites, the mites in suborder Oribatida or Cryptostigmata, have been often called 'moss mites' or 'beetle mites', and they are involved in decomposition of organic matters in terrestrial ecosystems (Behan-Pelletier, 1999). Oribatid mites have five active postembryonic instars and all feed on a wide variety of materials including living and dead plants, fungal material, lichens, and carrion, but some are predaceous (Behan-Pelletier, 2003). Although adult oribatid mites usually have strong exoskeleton, they also respond to changes in environmental conditions, such as soil humidity (Crossley et al., 1992; Wallwork, 1983).

#### 4. Prostigmata

Prostigmatid mites are a large and diverse group of predatory mites, including some fungivore species. Members of the Prostigmata, especially in the families Eupodidae, Tarsonemidae and Tydeidae, are among the most abundant soil mites in cultivated agroecosystems (Pimentel and Paoletti, 2012).

# 5. Araneae

Spiders are arthropods belonging to the class Arachnida and order Araneae. Spiders are predaceous and mostly feeding on insects and on other spiders (Nyffeler and Sunderland, 2003). Spiders have several adaptations that distinguish them from other soil microarthropods such as can build webs to ensnare prey (Griswold et al., 1998).

### 6. Pseudoscorpionida

Pseudoscorpions are microarthropods belonging to the class Arachnida. Most species of the pseudoscorpions inhabit the soil and litter and feed on small arthropods, such as mites, beetle larvae or springtails. Some larger species may also attack ants (Dindal, 1990). All pseudoscorpions possess conspicuous chelate pedipalps, which function in prey capturing (Zeh, 1987).

# 7. Collembola

Collembolans or springtails are small, wingless, and hexapodous arthropods. They have been found in all soil habitats. Most but not all of them are able to jump using forked abdominal appendage, called furca. Collembolans and mites are important microarthropods of soil mesofauna in most terrestrial ecosystems (Neher et al., 1999), and collembolans are usually numerically dominant in all habitats (Behan-Pelletier, 2003). Life cycle of most collembolans is about weeks to months. Collembolans, particularly sminthurids and onychiurids, are suggested as root feeder (Dindal, 1990). Onychiurids are attracted to plant roots, but perhaps are primary fungivorous. Collembolans are also significant food sources of predaceous mites and other predators (Crossley et al., 1992).

# 8. Diplura

Diplurans are small hexapods with chewing mouthparts. They generally live in damp humus or soil and in caves. Two groups basically make up most of the order. These are campodeids, with their long filamentous cerci, and japygids, with their forceps-like cerci. Japygids have been known to consume collembolans, isopods, symphylans and campodeid diplurans (Dindal, 1990).

### 9. Protura

Proturans are minute, slender, wingless insects. They are found in forest litter and humus (Chao and Chen, 1996). Proturans are an often-neglected group of soil fauna and are especially common in the rhizospheres of trees with mycorrhizae and feed on mycorrhizal fungi (Malmström and Persson, 2011).

## 10. Symphyla

Symphyla is both an order and a class of phylum Arthropoda. Symphylans are white, ranging from 0.2 – 1.5 cm in length, with 12 pairs of legs at adult stage. They are extremely common inhabitants of soil, and they are found in many habitats. They are important in decomposition (Dindal, 1990).

### 11. Diplopoda

Millipedes are common and conspicuous in the fauna of upper soil and litter. Most diplopods are detritivores, and they feed opportunistically and generally on leaf litter and decomposing plant materials (Dindal, 1990).

# 12. Chilopoda

Centipedes are fauna belonging to the class Chilopoda. They are found in a variety of habitats, but usually occur in a protected situation, such as in the soil. They are predators that feed on small insects and spiders (Dindal, 1990).

# 2.1.2 Functional role of soil microarthropods

Soil microarthropods are diverse and perform important functions in ecosystems. They control the rate of litter decomposition, nutrient cycling (Heneghan and Bolger, 1998; Kardol et al., 2011; Moore et al., 1988) and soil formation (Rumble and Gange, 2013). They even control the population dynamics of other organisms in soil (Rusek, 1998) and influence fungal composition and activity (Behan-Pelletier, 2003). Soil microarthropods speed up decomposition of large organic matter by converting it into soil inorganic substances that plant roots can absorb as nutrients from soil. Oribatids and collembolans feed on fungi and dead organic matters, and their faecal pellets are secreted into the soil for decomposition by bacteria and fungi, and their faecal pellets are an integral component of soil structure (Rusek, 1998). Moreover, some plants absorb nutrients through mycorrhiza that have relationship with their roots (Kardol et al., 2011), for example, mycorrhiza which is a symbiotic association between mycorrhizal fungi and live plant roots. Mycorrhizal fungi play a main role in increasing absorption of nutrients, especially phosphorus that tropical soils often lack. Mycorrhiza not only help increasing springtail population because fungus spores are food of some springtails, but these two soil organisms can also increase soil formation process efficiently (Siddiky et al., 2012).

# 2.1.3 Role as bioindicators

Apart from their important ecosystem roles, soil microarthropods have been used to indicate soil fertility. Environmental changes may be subtle and a result of complex interactions between abiotic and biotic components that cannot be measured directly. Most studies still focus on sensitive species. Collembolans are typically sensitive to soil moisture and temperature level changes and they interact with other microarthropods and fungi in soil (Huhta and Hänninen, 2001; Malmström, 2008; Parwez and Sharma, 2014; Turnbull and Lindo, 2015). Some soil microarthropods are commonly found in fertile soils, with appropriate temperature and humidity, and good drainage and ventilation (Ponge, 2003). Many workers have used assessments of soil microarthropod communities to examine soil quality and the effect of human-induced changes, such as deforestation, plowing, agricultural and the landscape level (Cortet et al., 2002; Farská et al., 2014; Tabaglio et al., 2009).

## 2.1.4 Feeding guilds type of soil microarthropods

A guild is defined as a group of species that exploit the same class of environmental resources in a similar way (Root, 1967).

#### Detritivore

Detritivores are heterotrophs that obtain nutrients by consuming detritus. All these detritivores contribute to decomposition and the nutrient cycles. They can live on any soil with an organic component. Typical detritivorous animals include some species of mites, Symphyla and Diplopoda (Neher et al., 1999).

#### Detrito-fungivore

Detrito-fungivores, such as collembolans, proturans and almost all oribatid mites, feed on both decaying plant materials and fungi (including mycorrhizae) (Neher et al., 1999).

# Predator

Soil microarthropods may be predators or serve as prey for predaceous mites and other groups of predators, such as Pseudoscorpionida, Araneae, Chilopoda, Diplura, and almost all Gamasina mites (Mesostigmata). They attack small arthropods (collembolans, soft-bodied mites, insect larvae and eggs) (Neher et al., 1999).

# 2.1.5 Extraction of soil microarthropods

A Tullgren apparatus, based on the Berlese funnel thus often called Berlese– Tullgren funnel, and its various modifications, is the most commonly used method to extract microarthropods, such as mites and collembolans from soil and litter. The funnel creates dry conditions at the upper part by a lighting source from a small lamp on the top, under which a soil sample is placed on the sieve at the top of funnel. Modifications of the Berlese – Tullgren funnel in extraction efficiency are improved by enhancing humidity and temperature gradients (Rusek, 1998; Sakchoowong et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2014). This method is however not suitable with soil microarthropods that became desiccated easily, such as immobile larvae and soft-bodied arthropods.

### 2.1.6 Factors influence soil microarthropods

#### 1. Soil moisture and soil temperature

Soil temperature is the main factor affecting the activity of the soil microarthropods and is correlated with the moisture in the soil (Turnbull and Lindo, 2015). Soil microarthropods were found most abundant in the wet area (Kardol et al., 2011). High soil temperature and low soil moisture decrease collembola and mite abundance (Parwez and Sharma, 2014). Soil moisture has a positive correlation with the population of soil microarthropods from study in dry dipterocarpous forest and dry evergreen forest in Thailand (Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014) and grassland in India (Parwez and Sharma, 2014), and soil moisture positively relates to rainfall from study in the coniferous forest in China (Wu et al., 2014). However, heavy rains or flooding may lead to waterlogged conditions that cause mortality of adult collembolans and require water-resistant eggs for the populations to persist (Tamm, 1984). Moreover, moisture changes may also affect the fungal community, which have indirect effect on the fungivorous microarthropods (Hågvar, 1998). The distribution, abundance and life cycles of soil microarthropods are directly affected by soil temperature and moisture (Tsiafouli et al., 2005).

2. Soil pH

Soil pH is a key factor to the spread of the soil microarthropods. Generally the microarthropods living in the soil where soil pH is in the range of 6-7 (Sylvia et al., 2005). Sumanothum (2007) found that collembolans and acari inhabit soil with is acidic pH 5 or 6 due to the rapid growth of fungi in acidic conditions (Yamanaka, 2003), making fungi an important food source for collembolans and oribatid mites (Behan-Pelletier, 2003; Rusek, 1998).

#### 3. Organic matter

Organic matter influences physical, chemical and biological factors of the soil. Because the amount of organic matter from fossil as well as organic compounds from degradation will assist soil structure stability as well as soil moisture and nutrients. Saitoh et al. (2011) reported that density of soil microarthropods, particularly collembolans and acari, were positively correlated with soil organic matter.

### 2.1.7 Dispersal of soil microarthropods

In theory, body size, life cycle and number of offspring have often been used to explain successional patterns of soil microarthropods. Oribatid mites often take longer time to recovery after disturbances than collembolans (Lindberg et al., 2002). Although, collembolans are able to jump using special structure (furcula) for movement and escape from predators, this ability does not correlate with dispersal rate (Farská et al., 2014). Most soil microarthropods can disperse from the surrounding areas by wind and water (Ojala and Huhta, 2001). Dispersal rates depend on various characteristics of each species, while some species of oribatid mites and collembolans can disperse to new habitats faster than the others. However, information about soil microarthropods dispersal abilities of soil fauna is very limited.

# 2.2 Mycorrhizal fungi

Mycorrhizae are the mutualistic relationship between non-pathogenic fungi and young plant root system which still absorb water and nutrients. ECM fungi help plants capture nutrients from the soil (Bardgett et al., 1993; Read, 1991; Yazid et al., 1994). Metabolism of plants gives fungi carbohydrates and other essential compounds, while fungi help plants to tolerate drought by increasing or producing nutrients. Therefore, mycorrhizal relationship may increase plant growth rate (Marx, 1972; Smith et al., 2003). Bucking et al. (2002) reported that xylem and phloem of plant root with ectomycorrhizae have more magnesium, phosphorus, sulfur, potassium and calcium than those without ectomycorrhizae. Furthermore, mycorrhizae protect plants from pathogenic fungi.

# 2.2.1 Types of mycorrhizal fungi

1. Ectomycorrhizal fungi (ECM)

Ectomycorrhizal associations are formed by fungi and a restricted group of plant families such as Pinaceae, Betulaceae, Fabaceae, Myrtaceae, Fagaceae and Dipterocarpaceae (Ingleby et al., 1998; Yazid et al., 1994). Ectomycorrhizae consist of a hyphal sheath, or mantle, covering the root tip and a hartig net of hyphae surrounding the plant cells within the root cortex (Taiz and Zeiger, 2002) (Figure 2).

2. Endomycorrhizal fungi (arbuscular mycorrhizae, AM)

An endomycorrhiza is a type of mycorrhiza into which the fungus penetrates cortical cells of vascular plant roots. Endomycorrhizae are mutualisms formed between fungi in phylum Glomeromycota and plant roots. This association the fungus occurs inside the cells of the plant root by the formation of unique structures such as arbuscules and vesicles. AM fungi help plants to capture nutrients such as phosphorus, sulfur, nitrogen and micronutrients from the soil (Taiz and Zeiger, 2002) (Figure 3).





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University





# 2.2.2 Application of ectomycorrhizae in forest restoration

Artificial inoculation of ectomycorrhizae has been used in nursery seedlings and seems to be an important contributor to the survival potential of seedlings in the forest production. Growth of the inoculated seedlings has also showed positive correlation with ectomycorrhizal association to seedlings (Arenla and Ajungla, 2014). Approximately10-50% of the host plant's net photosynthetic product is estimated to be transferred to ectomycorrhizal fungi (Sakakibara et al., 2002). See (1992) reported that seedlings of *Shorea leprosula*, *Shorea acuminate*, and *H. odorata* grow in sterile soil inoculated with ectomycorrhizal root fragments for 7 months were 1.5 times taller than uninoculated seedlings. The high growth of ectomycorrhizal *S. acuminata*, *S. leprosula* and *H. odorata* was associated with improved phosphorus nutrition through the increased phosphorus uptake by ectomycorrhizal association (See, 1992). However, the seedlings at the fourth month did not show much difference between the inoculated and control, but 8-month-old seedlings showed significant difference. This shows that plant growth improved with ectomycorrhizal association and active ectomycorrhizal root tips (Arenla and Ajungla, 2014). Thus, ectomycorrhizal (ECM) associations may be of great importance for seedlings growing in low nutrient conditions (Tennakoon et al., 2005).

#### 2.2.3 The relationship between ectomycorrhizae and soil microarthropods

Interactions between microarthropods and ectomycorrhizal fungi are important to many processes in soil, such as decomposition and nutrient cycling (Cortet et al., 2002). Ectomycorrhizal (ECM) fungi are very common in forest soils, and may be food resources for fungivorous soil animals (Malmström and Persson, 2011). Mycorrhizae increase collembolan population because collembolans feed on mycorrhizae (Siddiky et al., 2012). Furthermore, collembolans are potential vectors for dispersal of individual mycorrhizae beyond the zone of mycelium extension (Gormsen et al., 2004). On the other hand, collembolans feeding on mycorrhizal hyphae may reduce the mycorrhizal benefits for the host plants (Porazinska et al., 2003). Oribatids also disperse bacteria and fungi, both externally on their body surface and by feeding, with subsequent survival of spores during passage through their alimentary tracts. However, there are few studies about the interactions between soil fungi and oribatid mites, collembolans, or other microarthropods.

#### 2.3 Dipterocarpus trees as ectomycorhizal host species

Kingdom: Plantae

Phylum: Tracheophyta Class: Magnoliopsida Order: Malvales Family: Dipterocarpaceae

Dipterocarpaceae are the dominant tree family in many of the forests of Southeast Asia and therefore these trees have the capacity to strongly influence the ecology of forests in this region. Some species of the Dipterocarpaceae, such as *Dipterocarpus intricus, D. obtusifolius, D. tuberculatus, Shorea obtusa* and *S. siamensis,* are dominant species in dominate deciduous forests, especially in northeastern and north Thailand (Figure 4). Some species, such as *D. alatus,* is a common tree species found in the canopy of evergreen forest types normally found in central, eastern and southern Thailand. Dipterocarpaceae are economically valuable trees because their wood can be used in construction and furniture manufacturing. Dipterocarpus trees, therefore, are one of the most important commercial hardwoods from Southeast Asia (Ingleby et al., 1998; Yazid et al., 1994). However, they have been less attractive to replant due to their slow growth rate and low survival rate (Appanah and Turnbull, 1998).

Plantations involving dipterocarps have been established since the 1980s. Researchers have found since 1920s that most dipterocarpaceae form a symbiotic relationship with ectomycorrhizal fungi and some dipterocarp species form an association with vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae (VAM) (Appanah and Turnbull, 1998). Lee (1998) reported that most ectomycorrhizae in the Philippines which associate with dipterocarpaceae are *Russula* sp. and *Lactarius* sp. There have been
many speculations regarding the role of ectomycorrhizae in determining the successful establishment and survival of Dipterocarpaceae seedlings (Phosri et al., 2012; Yazid et al., 1994).



Figure 4 The forest map in Southeast Asia (Stibig et al., 2004)

# CHAPTER III

## METHODOLOGY



**Figure 5** Map of Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, Central Thailand (Wikipedia, 2016).

CHILLALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

# 3.1 Study sites

The study was conducted at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR) (14°31'N, 101°01'E), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, in central Thailand (Figure 5). The climate is a tropical savanna type with 1,264 mm annual precipitation and average temperature of 28.80 °C. Plain land surrounded by mountains at elevations of 40–190 m, and has reservoir and several ponds. The total area size is 538.24 ha. A reservoir was constructed in 2007 and several ponds were dug in 2007-2015 to irrigate the area. During the pond excavation, soils from 3 m below the surface was turned over to form the pond rim, which was approximately 8-10 m wide. The pond rim was then plug-planted with Dipterocarp

seedlings, usually a mixture of *Hopea odorata*, *Dipterocapus alatus*, *Shorea roxburghii*, *Shorea obtuse* and *Shorea siamensis*, in proportions of approximately 3: 8: 2: 2: 3, respectively. The seedlings were inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi of mixed species, such as *Russula* spp., *Lactarius* sp. and possibly others from the local soils. The seedlings were kept in a nursery until approximately 1 year old before being planted in a grid with 2-m spacing. There was no fertilization or supplementary watering. The study was conducted in three sites as follows (Figure 6):

1). Non-reforested areas (Figures 7 and 8)

The non-reforested areas were lands around two ponds in the middle and the west of the CU-CLNR that were not planted with Dipterocarp seedlings. Herbaceous weeds dominated the ground all year round, but were removed by monthly cutting.

2). One-year reforested areas (Figures 9 and 10)

Two sites were located around two adjacent ponds in the middle of the CU-CLNR. Dipterocarp seedlings were plug-planted in 2013. At the time of sampling start, seedlings were approximately 0.5 m tall with 0.1 m<sup>2</sup> crown size. Herbaceous weeds dominated the ground all year round, but were removed by monthly cutting.

3). Two-years reforested areas (Figures 11 and 12)

Two sites were located on the rim of the ponds (E and F) to the north of the CU-CLNR and plug-planted in 2012 with Dipterocarp seedlings. At the time of sampling start, the seedlings were 2 m tall with 0.25 m<sup>2</sup> crown size. Herbaceous weeds dominated the ground all year round, but were removed by monthly cutting.

## 3.2 Sampling

The soil of the study areas was obtained from pond excavation during which 3 m depth of soil was inverted. Each plot of approximately  $10 \times 10 \text{ m}^2$  with two replicates per treatment. Six  $1 \text{-m}^2$  quadrats were placed at random in each plot. Soil samples were taken from  $20 \times 20 \times 10 \text{ cm}^3$  subplots randomly chosen, within the quadrats (Figure 13). Samples were collected once a month for 13 months from October 2014 to October 2015. The soil samples were weighed to determine wet weight, and microarthropods were extracted with Berlese-Tullgren funnels (Figure 14) for three days (Sakchoowong et al., 2007) and were stored in 1.5 ml microtubes with 70% ethanol for each sample.

## 3.3 Soil microarthropod identification

Soil microarthropods from each sample were sorted and counted based on groups of Class, Subclass or Order (Dindal, 1990; Johnson and Triplehorn, 2004; Zhang, 2003), morphospecies and guilds (detritivore, detrito-fungivore and predator). The identification of microarthropods to the morphospecies level required a highmagnification microscope and soil microarthropods specimens were temporarily mounted in lactic acid on cavity microscope slides (Coleman et al., 2004), and they were placed to 1.5 ml microtubes according to groups of each sample.



**Figure 6** Location of the study areas from pond excavation in the non-reforested areas (A and B), 1-year reforested areas (C and D) and 2-year reforested areas (E and F) (Googlemap, 2016)



จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 7 Non-reforested areas in plot one, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



**Figure 8** Non-reforested areas in plot two, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



Figure 9 One-year reforested areas in plot one with seedlings planted in 2013, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



**Figure 10** One-year reforested areas in plot two with seedlings planted in 2013, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



**Figure 11** Two-year reforested areas in plot one with seedlings planted in 2012, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



**Figure 12** Two-year reforested areas in plot two with seedlings planted in 2012, photographed in October 2014 (A) and October 2015 (B)



Figure 13 The design of sampling plots for soil sampling



Figure 14 Berlese-Tullgren funnels for extraction of soil microarthropods

## 3.4 Biological factors

a) Ectomycrorhizal fungi (ECM) Infection

Percent ECM infection was obtained by sampling the soils in the vicinity of existing dipterocarpus seedlings at different stages. Soil samples were taken from 10  $\times$  10  $\times$  20 cm<sup>3</sup> (Figure 15) in July 2015. The roots were separated from the soils and observed under a stereo microscope, and ECM root tips were characterized on the basis of color and branching shape (Arenla and Ajungla, 2014). Percent ECM infection was calculated as the number of ECM root tips per the total number of root tips obtained. The procedure was only performed once to limit the impact on the restoration forest community (Rumble and Gange, 2013).



Figure 15 Percent ECM infection counts were obtained from soil sample in reforestation areas

b) Herbaceous cover, herbaceous biomass and organic matter

Herbaceous cover was estimated with naked eye with the aid of  $1 \times 1 \text{ m}^2$  quadrat frame (Figure 16) (Braun-Blanquet, 1932; Rumble and Gange, 2013). Additionally, the aboveground herbaceous material was collected from 0.25 x 0.25 m<sup>2</sup> subplot and oven-dried to measure biomass. Soil samples (100g) were mixed with water, filtered the organic matter with sieve and oven-dried at 105 ± 5 °C for 24 hours to measure soil organic matter (Ertel et al., 1991).



Figure 16 Quadrat for the estimation of herbaceous cover

## 3.5 Physical factors

a) Soil temperature

Soil temperature was measured using a thermometer placed at 10 cm depth in the soil (Figure 17).



Figure 17 Thermometer

b) Soil moisture and water holding capacity

Soil moisture was measured by drying 100 g soil sample at 105  $\pm$  5 °C for 24 hours (Farská et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2008). Water holding capacity (WHC) of soil was also tested.



Water holding capacity (WHC) =  $\frac{10 \text{ for al water in the wet soil}}{0 \text{ ven dry weight of total soil}} \times 100$ 

c) Soil pH

Soil pH was measured by mixing soil samples with distilled water at 1:1 ratio and tested with pH meter.

## d) Soil texture

Soil samples (200g) were mixed with water in 1,000 ml cylinder and the thickness of each of the sand, silt and clay layers precipitated (Figure 18) was measured to estimate soil texture class from the soil textural triangle (Figure 19) (Eo and Nakamoto, 2008; Zhao et al., 2008).



Figure 18 The settling of particles in soil suspension



Figure 19 Soil textural triangle (SoilSensor, 2011)

#### e) Rainfall

Average monthly rainfall from October 2014 to October 2015 was obtained from the Office of Hydrology Irrigation Center for Central Region.

#### f) Soil nutrients

Soil samples were sent to the Central Laboratory and Greenhouse Complex (Kasetsart University Kamphaeng Saen Campus) for analyses of some nutrients, such as nitrogen (KCl extraction and distillation), phosphorus (Bray II extraction and spectroscopy) and potassium (NH<sub>4</sub>OAc extraction and atomic spectroscopy).

## 3.6 Statistical analyses

All statistical tests were performed in SPSS 17.0. Differences between biological and physical factors in the three study areas were tested using one-way ANOVA. The ANOVA tests will require homogeneity of variance and normality. Relationships between soil microarthropods with biological and physical factors were examined using Pearson's correlation analysis. Multiple linear regression was used to analyze the relationship between factors that affect to abundance of soil microarthropods. Diversity based on morphospecies was measured and compared using the Shannon-Wiener index, Simpson Diversity Index, evenness index, Margalef's index (Krebs, 1989). Furthermore, similarities in composition of biological and physical factors were analyzed, using Principle Component Analysis (PCA) in R program (Kaplunovsky, 2005). a) Shannon-Wiener diversity index

Whereas H<sup>′</sup> = index of morphospecies diversity (individuals) S = total number of morphospecies Pi = proportion of total samples belonging to i<sup>th</sup> species in S (pi = ni/N; i = 1, 2, 3,...,)

b) Simpson's Dominance Index

$$D = \sum_{i=1}^{S} \sum_{j=1}^{S} \sum_{j=1}^{S}$$

WhereasD=Simpson's dominance indexS=total number of morphospecies in the community<br/>(richness)pi=proportion of S made up of the ith species

c) Shannon-Wiener's Evenness Index

# $E_H = H / ln S$

Whereas	Е <sub>Н</sub>	=	equitability (evenness)
	Н	=	Shannon's diversity index
	S	=	total number of morphospecies in the community
			(richness)
	In	=	natural logarithm

d) Species richness (Margalef's Index) (Margalef, 1958).

Whereas	R	=	species richness
	S	=	total number of morphospecies
	Ν	=	total number of individuals in the sample
	In	=	natural logarithm

e) Similarity index (Sorensen's Index)

# $S_s = 2a / (2a+b+c)$

Whereas	$S_s$	=	Sorensen's similarity coefficient
	а	=	number of species common to both quadrats
	b	=	number of species unique to the first quadrat
	С	=	number of species unique to the second
			quadrat

# CHAPTER IV RESULTS

#### 4.1 Physical and biological factors

The average monthly rainfall of the study site was 97.26 mm between October 2014 to October 2015, with the minimum of 0 mm in December 2014 and maximum of 287.30 mm in September 2015. The average monthly air temperature was 28.80 °C from October 2014 to October 2015, with the minimum of 25.30 °C in January 2014 and maximum of 31.30 °C in May 2015.

The climatic conditions of the study areas were determined by constructing a climograph of average monthly air temperature and rainfall (Figures 20 and 21). The dry season was during November 2014 to June 2015 with monthly air temperature ranging from 26.7-31.3°C and 0-83.4 mm monthly rainfall. The wet season was between October 2014 and July to October 2015 with monthly air temperature ranged from 28.0-30.1 °C and rainfall ranged from 125.8-287.3 mm.

The soil texture was classified as sandy loam in all three areas. The nonreforested area had more sand than the reforestation areas and were significantly different between the non-reforested area and the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation areas (F = 4.730, df = 2, 33, p = 0.016). The soil pH was 6.4-7.2 in all study areas. In addition, available nitrogen and available phosphorus were not significantly different among the three areas, except available potassium which was significantly different between non-reforested area and the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (F = 7.337, df = 2, 21, p = 0.001) and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation areas (F= 7.337, df = 2, 21, p = 0.046). However, phosphorus was slightly lower in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation areas. The water holding capacity (WHC) was significantly lower in the non-reforested area than the reforested areas (F= 42.963, df = 2, 33, p < 0.001), with 23.31% average WHC in non-reforested area and 29.15-29.95% in reforested areas (Table 3). Soil temperature was significantly different in reforested areas at 2-year (F= 4.310, df = 2, 33, p = 0.022). However, the soil temperature was not significantly different between seasons in three areas (Figures 22, 23 and Table 4). Furthermore, soil moisture was significantly different in three areas (F= 93.602, df = 2, 33, p < 0.001), and was highest in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, the 1-year reforestation area and the non-reforested area, respectively, but not significant difference between seasons (Figure 24, 25 and Table 4).

Higher ECM infection was found in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area (77%) than in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation areas (47%) (Table 3). Herbaceous plant biomass was significantly higher in the reforestation area at 2-year (F = 3.939, df = 2, 33, p = 0.029) (Table 3). Herbaceous plant biomass in the wet season was significantly higher than the dry season in all areas (Figures 26, 27 and Table 4). The herbaceous cover was not significantly different between the three areas (Figures 28, 29 and Table 4). The herbaceous biomass and herbaceous cover were lowest in February 2014 because the grass in this month was cut during the sampling date. Organic matter was not significantly different between areas (Table 3). Organic matter in the dry season was higher than the wet season but the significant difference between seasons was only found in the reforested areas at 2-year (t = -2.594, p = 0.025) (Figures 30, 31 and Table 4).



**Figure 20** Climate conditions at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, based on air temperature and precipitation from October 2014 to October 2015



**Figure 21** The October 2014 to October 2015 climograph at the Chulalongkorn University Center of Learning Network for the Region (CU-CLNR), Kangkhoi District, Saraburi Province, based on air temperature and precipitation

**Table 3** Physical and biological factors (mean  $\pm$  SE) measured in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). P-value from ANOVA with LSD (parametric). Same superscript letters means no significant difference at  $p \leq 0.05$ 

	Study areas				
	RF0	RF1	RF2		
Soil texture	sandy loam	sandy loam	sandy loam		
Sand (%)	50.50±2.84 <sup>°</sup>	47.00±1.32 <sup>ab</sup>	38.66±3.69 <sup>b</sup>	0.016	
Silt (%)	45.00±1.71 <sup>ª</sup>	45.00±1.71 <sup>a</sup> 33.66±2.14 <sup>b</sup>		0.002	
Clay (%)	11.00±1.58 <sup>ª</sup>	16.42±1.72 <sup>a</sup>	13.25±1.47 <sup>a</sup>	0.074	
Soil pH	6.4-7.2	6.7-7.1	6.7-7.1		
WHC (%)	26.31±0.37 <sup>a</sup>	29.95±0.20 <sup>b</sup>	29.15±0.28 <sup>b</sup>	0.000	
Available N (mg/kg)	9.77±1.3 <sup>a</sup>	11.55±1.3 <sup>a</sup>	9.77±1.3 <sup>a</sup>	0.546	
Available P (mg/kg)	6.3±2.32 <sup>a</sup>	9.67±2.19 <sup>a</sup>	5.62±1.19 <sup>a</sup>	0.317	
Available K (mg/kg)	164.73±14.77 <sup>a</sup>	238.14±12.42 <sup>b</sup>	197.45±13.43 <sup>a</sup>	0.004	
Soil temperature (°C)	29.78±0.24 <sup>ª</sup>	29.38±0.32 <sup>a</sup>	29.02±0.20 <sup>b</sup>	0.022	
Soil moisture (%)	9.23±0.43 <sup>a</sup>	12.06±0.46 <sup>b</sup>	12.65±0.57 <sup>°</sup>	0.000	
Organic matter (%)	0.73±0.14 <sup>ª</sup>	0.85±0.12 <sup>a</sup>	0.73±0.22 <sup>a</sup>	0.805	
Herbaceous biomass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	231.33±40.25 <sup>ª</sup>	264.34±35.78 <sup>ab</sup>	278.82±33.81 <sup>b</sup>	0.008	
Herbaceous cover (%)	49.55±6.62 <sup>ª</sup>	64.49±5.50 <sup>°</sup>	55.16±3.81 <sup>°</sup>	0.090	
ECM infection (%)	n/a	47	77		

n/a means not applicable

**Table 4** Physical and biological factors (mean  $\pm$  SE) measured between seasons in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). Same superscript letters denotes no significant difference between wet and dry seasons of the same reforested stage. (Independent samples t-test,  $p \le 0.05$ )

	Study areas						
	RF0		RF1		RF2		
	wet	dry	wet	dry	wet	dry	
Soil pH	6.4-7.7	6.6-7.2	7.2-7.4	6.6-7.2	6.7-7.1	6.7-7.4	
Available N (mg/kg)	8.9±1.8 <sup>a</sup>	10.7±2.0 <sup>a</sup>	10.7±2.0 <sup>a</sup>	12.4±1.8 <sup>a</sup>	7.1±0.0 <sup>a</sup>	12.4±1.8 <sup>a</sup>	
Available P (mg/kg)	3.0±1.0 <sup>a</sup>	9.6±4.1 <sup>ª</sup>	10.2±4.0 <sup>a</sup>	9.1±2.5 <sup>a</sup>	5.7±1.6 <sup>°</sup>	5.5±2.0 <sup>ª</sup>	
Available K (mg/kg)	159.8±14.7 <sup>ª</sup>	169.7±28.0 <sup>ª</sup>	225.0±14.6 <sup>a</sup>	251.2±19.7 <sup>ª</sup>	198.0±23.5 <sup>°</sup>	196.8±17.0 <sup>ª</sup>	
Soil temperature (°C)	31.0±0.3 <sup>a</sup>	29.0±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	31.2±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	28.5±0.3 <sup>a</sup>	30.4±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	28.3±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	
Soil moisture (%)	9.9±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	8.8±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	14.1±0.5 <sup>a</sup>	10.81±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	14.2±0.3 <sup>a</sup>	11.7±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	
Organic matter (%)	0.6±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	0.8±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	0.6±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	1.0±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	0.4±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	0.9±0.3 <sup>b</sup>	
Herbaceous biomass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	367.5±73.5 <sup>°</sup>	146.2±19.5 <sup>b</sup>	412.9±63.4 <sup>a</sup>	171.5±18.6 <sup>b</sup>	413.3±55.5 <sup>°</sup>	194.8±20.3 <sup>b</sup>	
Herbaceous cover (%)	63.2±7.3 <sup>a</sup>	41.0±6.2 <sup>a</sup>	78.8±5.0 <sup>a</sup>	55.6±5.8 <sup>a</sup>	56.2±3.3 <sup>a</sup>	54.5±4.2 <sup>a</sup>	
ECM infection (%)	n/a	n/a	47	0	77	0	

n/a means not applicable



**Figure 22** Soil temperature (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test,  $p \leq$  0.05).



**Figure 23** Soil temperature (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015.



**Figure 24** Soil moisture (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test,  $p \leq 0.05$ ).



**Figure 25** Soil moisture (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015.



**Figure 26** Herbaceous biomass (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test,  $p \leq$ 0.05).



**Figure 27** Herbaceous biomass (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015.



**Figure 28** Herbaceous cover (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test,  $p \le 0.05$ ).



**Figure 29** Herbaceous cover (average ± SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015.



**Figure 30** Organic matter (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015. Same letter indicate no significant difference between the wet and dry seasons in each area (Independent samples t-test,  $p \leq$  0.05).



**Figure 31** Organic matters (average  $\pm$  SE) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) from October 2014 to October 2015.

## 4.2 Soil microarthropods

4.2.1 Abundance of soil microarthropods

1. Total soil microarthropods

The overall soil microarthropods found in all study areas from October 2014 to October 2015 belonged to nine groups, 29 families and 34 morphospecies (Figures 32 to 44 and Table 5). Soil microarthropods collected from the non-reforested area belonged to six groups, 24 families and 27 morphospecies. Nine major groups, 25 families and 29 morphospecies were found in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, and 27 families and 32 morphospecies were found in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area. The total abundance of soil microarthropods was highest in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area (2,989 ± 334 ind./m<sup>2</sup>) and the non-reforested area (2,496 ± 361 ind./m<sup>2</sup>). However, the abundance of soil microarthropods was not significantly different among three areas (F = 1.988, df = 2, 73, p = 0.051). Acari (74-83%) and Collembola (15-21%) were the most abundant groups in three areas (Figures 45, 46 and Table 6).

2. Acari

Acari were most abundant in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area  $(2,080 \pm 336 \text{ ind./m}^2)$ , followed by the 1-year reforestation area  $(2,292 \pm 245 \text{ ind./m}^2)$  and the non-reforested area  $(2,678 \pm 331 \text{ ind./m}^2)$ . Four orders of Acari found in three areas were Oribatida (5 families), Prostigmata (5 families), Mesostigmata (3 families) and Astigmata (1 family). Oribatida were the most abundant group in the non-reforested area and the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, while Mesostigmata were most abundant in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area. Furthermore, the abundance of Mesostigmata was significantly different between the non-reforested area and reforestation areas (F = 8.404, df = 2, 73, p = 0.001). (Figure 47 and Table 7).

3. Collembolans

Collembolans were highest in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, the 1-year reforestation area and the non-reforested area, respectively, but not significantly different among three areas. Collembolans found consisted of four families; Isotomidae, Entomobryidae, Sminthuridae and Hypogastruridae. Family Isotomidae were most abundant in three areas, followed by Entomobryidae, Sminthuridae and Hypogastruridae (Figure 48 and Table 7).

4. Other soil microarthropods

Other groups of soil microarthropods were found much rarer, with only 0.01-2.2% of the total abundance. These rare groups included Symphyla, Protura, Diplura, Araneae, Spirobolida, Geophilomorpha and Pseudoscorpionida. Symphyla, Protura and Spirobolida were only found in the reforestation areas. Two families of Diplura were found: Japygidae and Camphosidae. They were most abundant in reforestation areas and were significantly different between non-reforested area and reforestation areas (F = 9.733, df = 2, 73, p < 0.001). The abundance of Araneae in three areas was not significantly different. However, Family Corinidae of Araneae was the most abundant group in three areas when compared with other familes of Araneae. Pseudoscoripionida were most abundant in the non-reforested area (F = 12.539, df = 2, 21, p < 0.001). Furthermore, Geophilomorpha were highest abundant in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area (F = 3.830, df = 2, 73, p = 0.026) (Table 6 and 7).

5. Comparisons of abundance between the wet and dry seasons

The abundance of soil microarthropods was significantly different between seasons in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area (t = 2.530, p = 0.043). (Table 8). Acari (t = 2.670, p = 0.030) and Geophilomorpha (t = 2.600, p = 0.025) in the wet season was higher than the dry season but the significant difference between seasons was only found in the reforested areas at 1-year. However, Symphyla were the most abundant in the wet season and were significant different between seasons in the 1-year (t = 3.697, p = 0.004) and 2-year (t = 3.148, p = 0.026) dipterocarpus reforestation areas (Figure 49 and Table 9).

6. Morphospecies accumulation curves

Morphospecies accumulation curves (Figure 50) showed decreased rates of species accrual with increased sampling effort. The morphospecies accumulation curves for the number of found morphospecies was on the increase, showing that there are probably more species not collected.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Class/order	Cubardar	Family	Number of morphospecies			
Class/order	Suborder	Family	RF0	RF1	RF2	
Acari	Mesostigmata	Digamasellidae	1	1	1	
		Rhodacaridae	1	1	1	
		Unknown 1	1	1	1	
	Prostigmata	Cunaxidae	3	3	3	
		Trombididae	1	1	2	
		Bdellidae	1	1	1	
		Smaridiidae	1	0	0	
		Caeculidae	0	0	1	
	Astigmata	Acaridae	1	2	2	
	Oribatida	Galumnidae	2	2	2	
		Phthiracaridae	1	1	1	
		Eremulidae	1	1	1	
		Lohmanniidae	1	1	1	
		Trhypochthoniidae	1	1	1	
Araneae		Corinnidae	1	1	1	
		Unknown 2	0	1	1	
		Gnaphosidae	1	0	1	
		Lycosidae	1	0	1	
Pseudoscorpionida		Unknown 3	1	1	1	
Collembola		Isotomidae	1	1	1	
		Hypogastruridae	1	1	1	
		Entomobryidae	1	1	1	
		Sminthuridae	1	1	1	
Diplura		Japygidae	1	1	1	
		Campodeida	1	1	0	
Protura		Unknown 4	0	1	1	
Symphyla		Scutigerellidae	0	1	1	
Geophilomorpha		Unknown 5	1	1	1	
Spirobolida		Unknown 6	0	1	1	
	Total		27	29	32	

**Table 5** Number of morphospecies of soil microarthropods in the dipterocarpusreforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforestedarea (RF0).



Figure 32 The number of morphospecies in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).





Family Digamasellidae

Family Rhodacaridae



Unknown 1

**Figure 33** Mesostigmata found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015







Family Cunaxidae



Family Bdellidae



Family Trombidiidae







Family Smaridiidae

Figure 34 Prostigmata found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015


Family Acaridae

**Figure 35** Astigmata found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015





**Figure 36** Oribatida found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015



Family Isotomidae

Family Hypogastruridae



Family Sminthuridae

🖣 Family Entomobryidae

**Figure 37** Collembola found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Family Corinnidae

Unknown 2



Family Gnaphosidae

Family Lycosidae

Figure 38 Araneae found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015



Family Japygidae

Family Campodeidae

**Figure 39** Diplura found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015



**Figure 40** Symphyla found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015



Figure 41 Geophilomorpha found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015

Chulalongkorn University



Figure 42 Pseudoscorpionada found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1year and 2-year stages and the non-reforested area from October 2014 to October 2015



**Figure 43** Spirobolida found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2-year stages from October 2014 to October 2015



Figure 44 Protura found in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year and 2year stages from October 2014 to October 2015



Figure 45 The abundance in each group in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)



**Figure 46** The abundance in soil microarthropod groups in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)



Table 6 Abundance of soil microarthropods in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). P-value obtained from ANOVA with LSD. Superscript letter in the same row indicate no significant difference at  $p \le 0.05$ 

		RF(	0	(			{F1				RF2		
Groups	Abun	dance			Abune	danc	e l	à	Abu	ndan	Ce	à	đ
	(ind	I./m <sup>2</sup> )		%	(ind.	./m <sup>2</sup> ,		8	(in	d./m	2)	%	
Acari	2080	+ 33		83.1	2292	+1	245 <sup>a</sup>	76.7	2678	+1	331 <sup>a</sup>	74.5	0.38
Collembola	373	+ 11	e9.	14.9	514	+1	92 <sup>a</sup>	17.2	763	+1	246 <sup>a</sup>	21.2	0.26
Symphyla	0	е +		0.0	67	+1	17 <sup>b</sup>	2.2	61	+1	14 <sup>b</sup>	1.7	0.001
Diplura	ω	+ 4		0.3	37	+I	٩	1.2	50	+1	$7^{\rm b}$	1.4	00.0
Protura	0	0 +		0.0	32	+1	16 <sup>b</sup>	1.1	6	+1	$q^{ab}$	0.3	0.03
Araneae	20	± 4ª		0.8	22	+1	ط <sup>a</sup>	0.7	23	+1	4 <sup>a</sup>	0.6	0.87
Geophilomorpha	Ļ	+ 1 <sup>a</sup>		0.0	15	+1	6 <sup>b</sup>	0.5	9	+1	$2^{ab}$	0.2	0.03
Pseudoscorpionida	13	з <sup>а</sup> +		0.5	ŝ	+1	$1^{b}$	0.1	7	+1	1 <sup>b</sup>	0.1	00.0
Spirobolida	0	9 +		0.0	7	+1	5 <sup>a</sup>	0.2	4	+1	2 <sup>a</sup>	0.1	0.31
Total	2496	± 36	50.5 <sup>a</sup>	100	2989	++	333.5 <sup>a</sup>	100	1596	+	227.3 <sup>a</sup>	100	0.14

**Table 7** Abundance (average ± SE) of soil microarthropods (individuals/m<sup>2</sup>) by family in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)

			RFO		RF1		RF2	
.02			Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%
	Mesostigmata	Digamasellidae	85±18	3.4	284±58	9.5	163±38	4.5
2		Rhodacaridae	14±7	0.6	184±47	6.1	156±52	4.3
3		Unknown 1	327±47	13.1	633±88	21.2	662±102	18.4
4	Prostigmata	Cunaxidae	71±17	2.9	197±39	6.6	52±11	1.4
Ŋ		Trombididae	88±18	3.5	66±25	2.2	195±55	5.4
9		Bdellidae	5±3	0.2	$1 \pm 1$	0	2±1	0
7		Smaridiidae	$0.2 \pm 0.2$	0	0	0	0	0
$\infty$		Caeculidae	0	0	0	0	$1 \pm 0.1$	0
6	Astigmata	Acaridae	55±14	2.2	113±38	3.8	124±43	3.5

**Table 8** (Cont.). Abundance (average ± SE) of soil microarthropods (individuals/m<sup>2</sup>) by family in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0)

		E	RFO		RF1		RF2	
NO	Order		Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%
10	Oribatida	Galumnidae	983±226	39.4	616±103	20.6	807±102	22.4
11		Phthiracaridae	17±7	0.7	12±5	0.4	22±6	0.6
12		Eremulidae	79±22	3.2	83±24	2.8	301±72	8.4
13		Lohmanniidae	6±2	0.2	31±15	1.0	35±10	1.0
14		Trhypochthoniidae	351±94	14.0	74±26	2.5	160±36	4.5
15	Araneae	Corinnidae	16±4	0.6	20±5	0.7	13±4	0.3
16		Unknown 2	0	0	3±1	0.1	$2\pm 1$	0
17		Gnaphosidae	2±1	0.1	0	0	5±3	0.1
18		Lycosidae	2±2	0.1	0	0	4±2	0.1
19	Pseudoscorpionida	Unknown 3	$13\pm3$	0.5	$3\pm 1$	0.1	$2 \pm 1$	0.1

dipte	rocarpus reforestati	ion areas at the 1-y	ear (RF1) and 2-y	ear (R	F2) stages and the	-uou a	-reforested area (F	(015
			RFO		RF1		RF2	
N	Older		Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%	Abundance±SE	%
20	Collembola	Isotomidae	155±94	6.2	244±74	8.2	478±240	13.3
21		Hypogastruridae	89±22	3.6	53±14	1.8	80±19	2.2
22		Entomobryidae	66±15	2.7	153±28	5.1	$131\pm 21$	3.6
23		Sminthuridae	62±14	2.5	64±13	2.1	74±23	2.1
24	Diplura	Japygidae	7±3	0.3	37±8	1.2	50±7	1.4
25		Campodeida	1±0	0	0	0	0	0
26	Protura	Unknown 4	0	0	32±16	1.1	9±4	0.3
27	Symphyla	Scutigerellidae	0	0	67±17	2.2	61±14	1.7
28	Geophilomorpha	Unknown 5	$1 \pm 1$	0	15±6	0.5	6±2	0.2
29	Spirobolida	Unknown 6	0	0	7±5	0.2	4±2	0.1
	Total		2497±361	100	2990±334	100	3596±227	100

the	3F0)
.⊆	ea (F
nily	d are
far	ested
ру	efore
(m <sup>2</sup> )	on-re
/sler	e no
ividu	d th
(ind	s an
ds	age
obc	2) st
arthi	. (RF
icro	year
ے ر	d 2-
soi	) an
of	(RF1
SE)	ear
ו+ נו	1-/
erage	: the
(ave	as at
ЭСе	are
ndar	tion
Abu	esta
t.).	efor
Con	nus r
<u> </u>	carp
ble	terc
Tal	dib



**Figure 47** Relative abundance of different suborders of Acari in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested plot (RF0).



**Figure 48** Relative abundance of different families of Collembola in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested plot (RF0).



**Figure 49** Log-abundance of different groups of soil microarthropods in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas between seasons at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). White and gray bars represent wet and dry seasons, respectively. Microarthropod groups are arranged from the most abundant to the least abundant in each area.

**Table 10** Total abundance of soil microarthropods (individual/m<sup>2</sup>) between wet and dry seasons (Independent samples t-test,  $p \le 0.05$ ) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0) and abundance of soil microarthropods between areas in each season (ANOVA with LSD,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

Season	RF0	RF1	RF2	p-value
Wet	2,487±499	4,080±635	3,410±602	0.203
Dry	2,500±491	2,009±264	3,712±652	0.106
<i>p</i> -value	0.986	0.024	0.755	

**Table 11** Total abundance of major groups of soil microarthropods between seasons in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). Different superscript letter in the same row indicate significant difference among seasons in each area (Independent samples ttest,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

	(20)		1011			
	จหาล	งกรณ์มห	Abundance	e (ind./m <sup>2</sup> )		
Groups	RF	=0	RI	=1	RF	=2
	wet	dry	wet	dry	wet	dry
Acari	1815±187 <sup>a</sup>	1831±475 <sup>a</sup>	3081±444 <sup>a</sup>	1650±299 <sup>b</sup>	2529±707 <sup>a</sup>	2921±432 <sup>a</sup>
Collembola	687±279 <sup>a</sup>	669±422 <sup>a</sup>	725±251 <sup>°</sup>	608±245 <sup>a</sup>	617±156 <sup>a</sup>	798±351 <sup>°</sup>
Symphyla	0 <sup>a</sup>	0 <sup>a</sup>	135±32 <sup>a</sup>	25±13 <sup>b</sup>	109±26 <sup>a</sup>	23±9 <sup>b</sup>
Diplura	1±0.5 <sup>°</sup>	12±6 <sup>a</sup>	34±17 <sup>ª</sup>	28±12 <sup>a</sup>	53±18 <sup>ª</sup>	44±10 <sup>a</sup>
Protura	0 <sup>a</sup>	0 <sup>a</sup>	48±8 <sup>a</sup>	22±11 <sup>a</sup>	13±8 <sup>a</sup>	8±6 <sup>a</sup>
Araneae	27±7 <sup>a</sup>	18±5 <sup>°</sup>	31±7 <sup>a</sup>	41±22 <sup>a</sup>	21±7 <sup>a</sup>	21±7 <sup>a</sup>
Geophilomorpha	1±1 <sup>a</sup>	2±1 <sup>a</sup>	45±17 <sup>a</sup>	7±5 <sup>b</sup>	14±8 <sup>a</sup>	2±2 <sup>a</sup>
Pseudoscorpionida	13±6 <sup>ª</sup>	12±3 <sup>a</sup>	1±1 <sup>a</sup>	4±1.5 <sup>°</sup>	1±0.6 <sup>a</sup>	2.4±1.6 <sup>a</sup>
Spirobolida	0 <sup>a</sup>	0 <sup>a</sup>	15±11 <sup>ª</sup>	0.8±0.8 <sup>a</sup>	9±6 <sup>a</sup>	0.8±0.5 <sup>ª</sup>



**Figure 50** Morphospecies accumulation curve (Coleman rarefaction method) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

4.2.2 Diversity indices and similarity index of soil microarthropods

Shannon-Wiener's diversity index, Margalef's index and evenness index were highest in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, while Simpson's index was highest in the non-reforested area. However, the diversity indices were not significantly different between the three areas (Table 11).

Furthermore, the Shannon's diversity index, Margalef's index and evenness index were higher in the wet season, while the Simpson's index was higher in the dry season. The Shannon's diversity index was significantly different between wet and dry seasons in the non-reforested area (t = 2.335, p = 0.046) (Table 11). Sorensen's index based on morphospecies yielded very high value of 85 to 92 % between the study areas, suggesting very high similarity or overlap of soil microarthropod communities (Table 12).

**Table 12** Morphospecies richness (Margalef Index), Simpson diversity index, Shannon diversity index and Shannon-Wiener's Evenness Index of soil microarthropods communities (base on morphospecies) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). (ANOVA with LSD,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

	Richness	Simpson	Shannon	Evonnoss
	(Margalef)	Simpson		LVEITIESS
RF0	1.94±0.08	0.21±0.01	0.85±0.03	0.31±0.01
RF1	2.12±0.11	0.17±0.01	0.92±0.03	0.32±0.01
RF2	2.18±0.09	0.17±0.01	0.93±0.03	0.32±0.01
<i>p</i> -value	0.196	0.190	1.22	0.638

**Table 13** Morphospecies richness (Margalef Index), Simpson diversity index, Shannon diversity index and Shannon-Wiener's Evenness Index of soil microarthropods communities between wet and dry seasons in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0). (Independent samples t-test,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

	Rich	ness	Сни	Sim	oson	UNIV	Shai	nnon	n	Even	ness	n
-	wet	dry	- Ρ	wet	dry	- Ρ	wet	dry	- ρ	wet	dry	Ρ
RF0	2.12	1.85	0.12	0.17	0.22	0.07	0.92	0.82	0.03	0.33	0.31	0.31
RF1	2.29	2.01	0.22	0.16	0.18	0.43	0.96	0.90	0.27	0.32	0.33	0.94
RF2	2.32	2.08	0.24	0.16	0.18	0.43	0.99	0.89	0.07	0.33	0.31	0.06

nd t	he non-reforested	d area (RF0).		
		RF0	RF1	RF2
	RF0	1	-	-
	RF1	0.86	1	-
	RF2	0.85	0.92	1

**Table 14** Sorensen's similarity index for soil microarthopods base on morphospeciesin the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stagesand the non-reforested area (RF0).



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# 4.2.3 Guilds of soil microarthropods

Soil microarthropods were divided into detrito-fungivorous, detritivorous, and predatory guilds. Detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were the most abundant guild in all three areas, followed by predatory microarthropods (Figure 51). Three, 5 and 4 morphospecies of detritivorous microarthropods were found in the non-reforested area, the 1-year and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, respectively. Ten, 11 and 11 morphospecies of detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were found in the non-reforested area, the 1-year and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, respectively. Fifteen, 13 and 17 morphospecies of predatory microarthropods were found in the non-reforested area, the 1-year and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, respectively (Figure 52).



**Figure 51** Relative abundance of guilds in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested plot (RF0).



**Figure 52** Number of morphospecies of guilds in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested plot (RF0).

# Predators

There were six groups (Mesostigmata, Prostigmata, Geophilomorpha, Diplura (Japygidae), Araneae and Pseudoscorpionida) 15 families and 19 morphospecies of predatory microarthropods in the three study areas. Predatory soil microarthropods were found to be most abundant in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas. The difference was significant between non-reforested area and reforestation areas (F = 10.019, df = 2, 73, p < 0.001) while not significant between the wet and dry seasons. Mesostigmata was the dominant group of predatory soil microarthropods in all three areas, followed by Prostigmata. The abundance of Mesostigmata, Diplura (Japygidae), Pseudoscorpionida and Geophilomorpha were different between the non-reforested area and reforestation areas. Pseudoscorpionida were most abundant in the non-reforested area while Geophilomorpha were most abundant in the reforestation areas (Table 13 and Figure 53a).

# Detritivores

Detritivorous microarthropods consisted of four groups, namely Astigmata, Diplura (Family Campodeidae), Spirobolida and Symphyla. Detritivorous microarthropods were found to be more abundant in the reforestation areas than the non-reforested area and (F = 4.785, df = 2, 73, p = 0.011). However, their abundance was not significantly different between the wet and dry seasons. Astigmata were the dominant group in the detritivorous group (Table 4.11). Furthermore, Symphyla were most abundant in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas (F = 7.730, df = 2, 73, p = 0.001) (Table 13 and Figure 53b).

### Detrito-fungivores

Detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were the most abundant group among all guilds. The majority of the detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were from three orders (Oribatida, Collembola and Protura) and 10 families. However, the abundance of detrito-fungivorous microarthropods was not significantly different between three areas. Oribatida (Family Galumnidae) were most abundant in three areas, followed by Collembola (Family Isotomidae). Oribatida (F = 2.957, df = 2, 73, p = 0.028) and Protura (F = 2.777, df = 2, 73, p = 0.026) were significantly different between the nonreforested area and the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year. Moreover, the abundance levels of detrito-fungivorous microarthropods were significantly different between wet and dry seasons in and the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (t = 3.414, p = 0.002). (Table 13 and Figure 53c).

Cuthel	Quala	E	In	dividual / m²	(%)	
Guilas	Order	Family	RF0	RF1	RF2	<i>p</i> -value
Predator			631 <sup>°</sup>	1442 <sup>b</sup>	1312 <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
	Mesostigmata		426 <sup>a</sup>	1101 <sup>b</sup>	981 <sup>b</sup>	0.010
		Digamasellidae	85 (13.5)	284 (19.7)	163 (12.6)	
		Rhodacaridae	14 (2.2)	184 (12.8)	156 (12.0)	
		Unknown 1	327 (51.8)	633 (43.9)	662 (51.0)	
	Prostigmata		164 <sup>a</sup>	264 <sup>a</sup>	250 <sup>°</sup>	0.255
		Cunaxidae	71 (11.3)	197 (13.6)	52 (4.0)	
		Bdellidae	5 (0.8)	1 (0.1)	2 (0.1)	
		Smaridiidae	0.2 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
		Trombididae	88 (13.9)	66 (4.6)	195 (15.0)	
		Caeculidae	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.0)	
	Araneae		20 <sup>a</sup>	22 <sup>ª</sup>	23 <sup>ª</sup>	0.870
		Corinnidae	16 (2.6)	20 (1.4)	13 (1.0)	
		Unknown 2	0 (0.0)	3 (0.2)	2 (0.1)	
		Gnaphosidae	2 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	5 (0.4)	
		Lycosidae	2 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (0.3)	
	Pseudoscorpionida	Unknown 3	13 (2.1) <sup>a</sup>	3 (0.2) <sup>b</sup>	2 (0.2) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
	Diplura	Japygidae	7 (1.2) <sup>a</sup>	37 (2.6) <sup>b</sup>	50 (3.8) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
	Geophilomorpha	Unknown 4	1 (0.2) <sup>a</sup>	15 (1.1) <sup>b</sup>	6 (0.5) <sup>ab</sup>	0.030
Detritivore			56 <sup>°</sup>	187 <sup>b</sup>	189 <sup>b</sup>	0.011
	Astigmata	Acaridae	55 (97.7) <sup>a</sup>	113 (60.8) <sup>a</sup>	124 (65.3) <sup>a</sup>	0.336
	Diplura	Campodeidae	1 (1.5) <sup>a</sup>	0 (0.1) <sup>ab</sup>	0 (0.0) <sup>b</sup>	0.470
	Spirobolida	Unknown 5	0 (0.0) <sup>a</sup>	7 (3.5) <sup>a</sup>	4 (2.1) <sup>a</sup>	0.310
	Symphyla	Scutigerellidae	0 (0.0) <sup>a</sup>	67 (35.9) <sup>b</sup>	61 (32.3) <sup>b</sup>	0.001
Detrito-Fungi	vore		1811 <sup>ª</sup>	1362 <sup>ª</sup>	2069 <sup>°</sup>	0.614
	Collembola		373 <sup>ª</sup>	514 <sup>°</sup>	763 <sup>°</sup>	0.260
		Isotomidae	155 (8.6)	244 (19.0)	478 (22.8)	
		Hypogastruridae	89 (4.9)	53 (4.1)	80 (3.8)	
		Entomobryidae	66 (3.7)	153 (11.9)	131 (6.3)	
		Sminthuridae	62 (3.4)	64 (5.0)	74 (3.5)	
	Protura	Unknown 6	0 (0.0) <sup>a</sup>	32 (2.5) <sup>b</sup>	9 (0.4) <sup>ab</sup>	0.030
	Oribatida		1436 <sup>ª</sup>	816 <sup>b</sup>	1324 <sup>ab</sup>	0.050
		Galumnidae	983 (54.3)	616 (47.8)	807 (38.5)	
		Phthiracaridae	17 (0.9)	12 (0.9)	22 (1.0)	
		Eremulidae	79 (4.4)	83 (6.4)	301 (14.4)	
		Lohmanniidae	6 (0.3)	31 (2.4)	35 (1.7)	
		Trhypochthoniidae	351 (19.4)	74 (5.8)	160 (7.6)	

**Table 15** Abundance of soil microarthropods in each guild in the dipterocarpus reforestationareas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0), ANOVA withLSD. Same superscript letters means no significant difference at  $p \le 0.05$ 



**Figure 53** Total abundance of soil microarthropods by guild in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas between seasons at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0): (a) predator, (b) detritivore and (c) detrito-fungivore. Same letters denote no significant difference between wet and dry seasons of the same reforested stage. (Independent samples t-test,  $p \le 0.05$ )

# 4.3 Relationships between biological factors, physical factors and abundance of soil microarthropods

# 4.3.1 Principal component analysis (PCA)

Factor extraction from six environmental factors include soil moisture, soil temperature, herbaceous cover, herbaceous biomass, organic matter and water holding capacity in each area were determined considered. The result shows that three principal components for factor extraction in the non-reforested area included PC1 (soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass) with 33% of variance loading, PC2 (soil temperature) with 20% of variance loading, and PC3 (organic matter and water holding capacity) with 17% of variance loading (Figure 54). In the dipterocarpus reforestation area found one PC for factor extraction; 81% of variance loading in 1- year reforested area (Figure 55) and 84% in 2-year reforested area (Figure 56) respectively. The results of the extraction factors by principal component analysis (PCA) require the Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin index (KMO) value equal to be greater than 0.5 to be considered as strong factors. The factors with KMO values more than 0.5 was shown in Table 14 and significant result from Bartlett's Test showed that the variables are related.

The principal component analysis was conducted to examine the variation of the environmental factors based on the loading plots of PCA in three areas. Soil moisture in three areas were the main groups associated with the separation of the component 1 (soil moisture in three areas), it is explained 40.7 % of the total variation. The component 2 (soil temperature in three areas) explained 20.7 % of the total variation, the component 3 (herbaceous biomass in RF0, RF1 and organic matter in RF2), the component 4 (organic matter in RF0, RF1 and herbaceous cover in RF0) and the component 5 (herbaceous cover in RF1, RF2 and herbaceous biomass in RF2) explained 12.9%, 7.9% and 7.6% of the total variation, respectively (Figure 57).

Areas	KMO	Bartlett's Test
Non-reforested	0.530	0.00
Dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year	0.614	0.00
Dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 2-year	0.596	0.00

Table 16 Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin index (KMO) and Bartlett's Test



Figure 54 Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the non-reforested area



**Figure 55** Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year



**Figure 56** Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 2-year



**Figure 57** Loading plots of principal components analysis (PCA) of environmental factors in the non-reforested area (0) and the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at 1-year (1) and 2-year stages (2).

CHILLALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

# 4.3.2 Correlation analysis

1. PC score from factor extraction by PCA and abundance of soil microarthropods

In the non-reforested area, PC1 and PC3 score were positively correlated with abundance of Diplura, while PC1 score was negatively correlated with total of soil microarthropods, Mesostigmata, Oribatida, Collembola, Araneae, Symphyla and Geophilomorpha. PC2 score was positively correlated with Astigmata. Moreover, PC1 score was negatively correlated with predator and detrito-fungivore, while PC2 score was positively correlated with detritivore.

In the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, PC1 score was negatively correlated with total of soil microarthropods, Mesostigmata, Oribatida, Diplura, Collembola, Araneae and Symphyla, and PC1 score was negatively correlated with predator, detritivore and detrito-fungivore.

In the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, PC1 score was positively correlated with Prostigmata and Araneae. Moreover, PC1 score was negatively correlated with Diplura.

2. Environmental factors and abundance of soil microarthropods

In the non-reforested area, soil microarthropods abundance was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Collembola was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture and herbaceous biomass. Oribatida was positively correlated with soil moisture and herbaceous cover. Mesostigmata was positively correlated with herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Astigmata was positively correlated with herbaceous cover, but was negatively correlated with soil temperature. Araneae was positively correlated with soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Geophilomorpha was positively correlated with soil moisture and herbaceous cover. Diplura was negatively correlated with soil temperature (Table 15). In the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, soil microarthropods abundance was positively correlated with soil temperature, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Mesostigmata was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, herbaceous cover and organic matter. Oribatida was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, organic matter, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Collembola was positively correlated with soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Prostigmata was positively correlated with organic matter, but was negatively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture and herbaceous biomass. Astigmata was positively correlated with herbaceous biomass and herbaceous cover, but was negatively correlated with soil temperature and soil moisture. Symphyla was positively correlated with soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass, but was negatively correlated with organic matter. Diplura was positively correlated with herbaceous cover. Spirobolida was positively correlated with herbaceous biomass (Table 16).

In the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, soil microarthropods abundance was negatively correlated with herbaceous cover. Oribatida was positively correlated with soil temperature. Prostigmata was negatively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass. Astigmata was negatively correlated with soil temperature. Symphyla was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, herbaceous biomass and WHC. Diplura was positively correlated with soil temperature, soil moisture, herbaceous cover and organic matter. Geophilomorpha was positively correlated with herbaceous biomass and soil moisture. Araneae was negatively correlated with herbaceous cover. Pseuduscorpionida was positively correlated with organic matter. Protura was negatively correlated with soil temperature (Table 17).

Detrito-fungivore abundance was positively correlated with soil moisture, herbaceous cover and herbaceous biomass in non-reforested area and 1year dipterocarpus reforestation area. Detrito-fungivore abundance was positively correlated with soil temperature and WHC in non-reforested area. Moreover, detritofungivore abundance was negatively correlated with organic matter in 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area.

Predator abundance was positively correlated with herbaceous biomass in non-reforested area and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, and was positively correlated with herbaceous cover in non-reforested area and 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area.

Detritivore abundance was positively correlated with herbaceous cover in non-reforested area and 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area, while detritivore abundance was negatively correlated with soil temperature in nonreforested area and 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area (Table 18).

In this study showed that soil moisture was positively correlated with abundance of total soil microarthropods, Protura, Symphyla, Spirobolida and detritivore group. Soil temperature moisture was positively correlated with abundance of detritivore group, while was negatively correlated with abundance of predator group and herbaceous cover was positively correlated with predator group. Herbaceous biomass was positively correlated with abundance of Symphyla and Spirobolida. Organic matter was negatively correlated with abundance of Symphyla and predator group. Age of seedling was positively correlated with abundance of total microarthropods, Acari, Symphyla and predator group (Table 19).

Factors	Soil	Soil	Herbaceous	Herbaceous	s OM	WHC
Tactors	temperature	moisture	cover	biomass	OM	WIIC
Total microarthropod	0.170*	0.335**	0.393**	0.223**	-0.087	0.167*
Oribatida	0.127	0.254**	0.353**	0.115	-0.069	0.173*
Mesostigmata	0.14	0.062	0.393**	0.226**	0.025	0.065
Prostigmata	0.053	0.091	0.053	0.068	-0.132	0.047
Astigmata	-0.250*	0.046	0.202*	-0.039	0.095	0.072
Araneae	0.006	0.278**	0.170*	0.207*	-0.003	-0.004
Pseudoscorpionida	0.106	-0.053	0.110	0.075	-0.038	0.085
Collembola	0.166*	0.372**	0.149	0.298**	-0.097	0.006
Diplura	-0.217**	-0.072	-0.14	-0.162	0.035	-0.124
Geophilomorpha	0.036	0.200*	0.165*	0.103	0.034	-0.016
Remark: * p	≤ 0.05	///				
**	0.01					

Table 17 Pearson's Correlation in the non-reforested area

\*\* *p* ≤ 0.01

# Table 18 Pearson's Correlation in the 1-year dipterocarpus reforestation area

Factors	Soil	Soil	Herbaceous	Herbaceous	0.14	
Factors	temperature	moisture	cover	biomass	OM	VVIIC
Total microarthropod	0.231*	0.157	0.302**	0.194*	-0.166*	-0.092
Oribatida	0.253**	0.259**	0.252**	0.250**	-0.173*	-0.010
Mesostigmata	0.191*	0.177*	0.277**	0.085	-0.127	-0.115
Prostigmata	-0.259**	-0.304**	-0.121	-0.178*	0.269**	-0.031
Astigmata	-0.250**	-0.172*	0.162*	-0.034	0.014	-0.034
Araneae	0.032	0.032	0.139	0.262**	-0.107	-0.041
Pseudoscorpionida	0.009	0.022	-0.010	-0.001	0.028	-0.105
Collembola	0.066	0.324**	0.171*	0.212**	-0.135	-0.137
Diplura	0.060	0.207	0.214**	0.184*	-0.094	-0.064
Protura	0.017	0.258	0.031	-0.041	-0.097	-0.075
Symphyla	0.097	0.350**	0.223**	0.246**	-0.203**	-0.039
Geophilomorpha	0.136	0.197*	0.012	0.031	-0.136	0.049
Spilobolida	0.006	0.118	0.093	0.179*	-0.087	-0.015
Remark: * µ	0 ≤ 0.05					

\*\*  $p \le 0.01$ 

Factors	Soil Soil		Herbaceous	Herbaceous	$\cap$ M	
	temperature	moisture cover		biomass	ON	VVIIC
Total microarthropod	-0.003	0.01	-0.063	-0.117	-0.04	-0.006
Oribatida	0.226**	0.068	0.011	0.019	-0.065	0.027
Mesostigmata	0.032	-0.046	0.016	-0.125	-0.012	-0.105
Prostigmata	-0.365**	-0.384**	-0.276**	-0.311**	0.039	-0.084
Astigmata	-0.382**	-0.02	0.078	-0.078	-0.027	0.034
Araneae	0.123	-0.043	-0.163*	-0.15	0.11	0.011
Pseudoscorpionida	-0.006	-0.08	-0.041	-0.098	0.216*	-0.012
Collembola	-0.098	0.051	-0.144	-0.119	-0.024	0.008
Diplura	0.253**	0.173*	0.168*	0.155	0.181*	0.083
Protura	-0.208**	0.048	0.120	-0.008	-0.041	0.088
Symphyla	0.263**	0.181*	0.127	0.313**	0.005	0.222*
Spilobolida	0.086	0.088	0.019	0.136	-0.042	0.084
Geophilomorpha	0.129	0.188*	0.126	0.174*	-0.072	0.084

Table 19 Pearson's Correlation in the 2-year dipterocarpus reforestation area

Remark:

*p* ≤ 0.05

\*\* *p* ≤ 0.01

ж

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	S
	0
	D D
C	Ë
	a
	Ц
	Ð
	Ę
	$\leq$
	Ē
	$\geq$
	Ð
-	$\overline{\sigma}$
	Ĕ
	σ
	e B
	Ĕ
_	g
	Z
	∃
-	Q.
	0
-	ŏ
·	₹
	бл
	Ч
Ç	Ĕ
	S
	Š
	g
	Ē
	~
	2
:	≓
_	g
	Ð
	Ъ
(	5
	S
ſ	È
	Q
	ST C
	Ð
۵	<u> </u>
9	2
0	N
	ወ
-	ō
	D

		RFO			RF1			RF2	
Factors	Predator	Detritivore	Dettrito- fungivore	Predator	Detritivore	Dettrito-	Predator	Detritivore	Dettrito- fungivore
soil temperature	0.131	-0.256**	0.167*	0.106	-0.189	0.204	-0.049	-0.289**	0.050
soil moisture	0.1	0.047	0.346**	0.092	0.008	0.336**	-0.130	0.046	0.072
Herbaceous cover	0.205*	0.196*	0.376**	0.229**	0.260**	0.249**	-0.053	0.120	-0.091
Herbaceous biomass	0.221**	-0.041	0.194*	.046	.103	.261**	-0.185*	0.034	-0.071
WO	-0.034	0.1	-0.093	-0.051	-0.088	-0.184*	0.010	-0.029	-0.051
VHC	0.069	0.072	0.165*	-0.115	-0.050	-0.071	-0.109	0.112	0.021

Table 21Pearson's Correlation analysis for abundance in each group andenvironmental factors in three areas

	Soil	Soil	Herbaceous	Herbaceous	Organic	Age of
	temperature	moisture	cover	biomass	matter	seedling
Total microarthropods	0.212	0.428**	0.121	0.128	-0.097	0.327*
Acari	0.223	0.277	0.146	0.108	-0.127	0.324*
Collembola	-0.010	0.309	0.069	-0.039	-0.046	0.027
Protura	-0.022	0.349*	0.112	0.121	-0.234	0.114
Symphyla	0.181	0.636**	0.291	0.454**	-0.391*	0.380*
Spirobolida	0.118	0.378*	0.086	0.347*	-0.193	0.148
Detritivore	0.453**	0.260	0.011	0.123	-0.121	0.243
Detrito-fungivore	0.232	0.462**	0.032	0.161	0.086	0.167
Predator	-0.383*	0.113	0.332*	-0.050	-0.360*	0.323*

Remark:

 $p \le 0.05$ 

\*\*



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# 4.3.3 Multiple linear regression

Multiple linear regression showed that soil moisture had significant effects on the abundance of total soil microarthropods, Collembola, Protura, Symphyla and detrito-fungivores (Model 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 8). Increasing herbaceous biomass had positive effect on the abundance of Symphyla and Spirobolida (Model 5 and 6) and increasing age of seedling had positive effect on the abundance of Acari and the abundance of detritivores (Model 2 and 7). Organic matter had negative effect on the abundance of Symphyla and the predators (Model 5 and 9). Herbaceous cover seedling had positive effect on the abundance of predators (Model 9). Soil temperature had positive effect on the abundance of Acari and the detritivores (Model 2 and 7), while had negative effect on the abundance of predators (Model 9).

Model 1

$$Y_1 = 1310.67 + (157.18*X_1), r = 0.428, P = 0.007$$

Model 2

$$Y_2 = -1926.56 + (124.92*X_2) + (520.31*X_6), r = 0.418, P = 0.032$$

Model 3

 $Y_3 = -9.41 + (61.47*X_1), r = 0.309, P = 0.05$ 

Model 4

$$Y_4 = -20.57 + (3.06*X_1), r = 0.349, P = 0.03$$

Model 5

 $Y_5 = -50.82 + (6.50^*X_1) - (2.80^*X_3) + (2.08^*X_5), r = 0.766, P < 0.001$ 

Model 6

$$Y_6 = -9.07 + (0.77*X_1) + (0.24*X_5), r = 0.378, P = 0.02$$

Model 7

$$Y_7 = -2306.14 + (101.87 \times X_2) + (196.65 \times X_6), r = 0.544, P = 0.02$$

Model 8
# Model 9

Where:	$Y_1$	=	Abundance of total soil microarthropods
	Y <sub>2</sub>	=	Abundance of Acari
	Y <sub>3</sub>	=	Abundance of Collembola
	Y <sub>4</sub>	=	Abundance of Protura
	$Y_5$	=	Abundance of Symphyla
	Y <sub>6</sub>	=	Abundance of Spirobolida
	Y <sub>7</sub>	= '	Abundance of detritivores
	Y <sub>8</sub>	=	Abundance of detrito-fungivores
	Y <sub>9</sub>	= -	Abundance of predators
	$X_1$	=	Soil moisture
	X <sub>2</sub>	=	Soil temperature
	X <sub>3</sub>	=	Organic matter
	X <sub>4</sub>	=	Herbaceous cover
	$X_5$	= จุห	Herbaceous biomass
	X <sub>6</sub>	£hul	Age of seedling

# CHAPTER V

#### 5.1 Reforestation with environmental factors

Some environmental factors changed over stages of reforestation plots of dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Particularly, soil moisture increased with the increasing age of the reforested plots. Madsen and Larsen (1997) reported that beech saplings in Denmark increased the regeneration growth with increased soil water content. This change was caused by several influencing factors, such as soil texture, soil organic matter and canopy cover. The proportion of small, medium and large particles (clay, silt and sand, respectively) in the non-reforested area had more sand than the reforestation areas. Silt and clay has the higher ability to retain water than sand (Wischmeier and Mannering, 1969). The water holding capacity was higher in reforestation areas more than in the nonreforested area. The water holding capacity is controlled primarily by soil texture and organic matter (Naeth et al., 1991). Plant roots also help to change the soil structure, which affect the soil's ability to retain moisture (Bais et al., 2006). Furthermore, the reforestation area at 2 years had a larger canopy cover of seedlings more than that of the 1-year reforestation areas, while the non-forested area had no seedling canopy cover. Therefore, the rate of evaporation of water in the reforestation areas would be less than the non-reforested area, and the effect of solarization to soil temperature in the reforestation areas would be lower than in the non-reforested area. Moreover, soil moisture could help supporting the survival of the mycorrhizal fungi, which subsequently increases the survival rate of the dipterocarp seedlings over age progression of the seedlings, and the root growth would be more conducive to increase EMC fungal infection. Furthermore, the study by Arenla and Ajungla (2014), after 8 months of inoculation with ectomycorrhiza (Russula sp.), demonstrated that the inoculated seedlings were significanty growing faster than the non-inoculated dipterocarp seedlings.

Soil nitrogen and phosphorus were not significantly different between the three areas in this study. The range of soil nitrogen was 9.77-11.55 mg/kg, which was rather low. The range of phosphorus was 6.3-9.7 mg/kg, which values were at the low level of available soil phosphorus (Complex, 2016). Phosphorus is an essential element in plant growth and becomes available for plant absorption only if the soil pH is lower than 6.8 (Complex, 2016). The soil pH from this study was in the range 6.4-7.2, and available phosphorus was relatively low, especially in reforestation area at 2-year, possibly due to the phosphorus uptake in the seedlings that was also improved by ECM infection (Yazid et al., 1994).

Herbaceous biomass was significantly lower in the non-reforested area than in the 2-year reforestated area. High soil moisture of the soil in the 2-year reforestation plots are responsible for the higher herbaceous plant growth and subsequently higher biomass. In contrast, lower nutrients in the soil may be caused by high absorption from highly proliferated herbaceous plants. Differences of herbaceous biomass were found between the wet and dry seasons. Herbaceous biomass in the wet season was greater than the dry season in all three areas. However, the percent herbaceous cover did not differ in the three areas due to weed management by cutting every month to prevent competition between grasses and seedling for soil nutrient use (James, 1949). Huhta and Hanninen (2001) reported that the plant cover appears to increase soil moisture. Organic matter was at a low level, and not different among three areas, ranging from 0.73 to 0.85%. Mushrooms or fruiting bodies of Russula sp. were found in the 2-year reforestation area in July 2015. This was a proof of ECM association between dipterocarp seedlings and ECM fungi. In addition, there were some other factors which were not recorded in this study but could possibly be important to the soil microarthropods community and environmental condition such as canopy cover of seedling and sapling, more detailed ECM infection, root biomass, or other group of soil fauna.

#### 5.2 Soil microarthropods community with reforestation

This study demonstrates that the abundance of soil microarthropods was lowest in non-reforested area, with weedy or grassy cover, and increased with the age of the seedlings in the reforested areas. The highest abundance of soil microarthropods was found in the 2-year-old dipterocarpus reforestation area. The reforested areas have the abundance of soil microarthropods (3,596  $\pm$  227 individual/m<sup>2</sup>) similar to the natural dry evergreen forest at Sakaerat environmental Research Station, Nakhon Ratchasima Province (3,381  $\pm$  463 individual/m<sup>2</sup>) (Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014) (Table 20). The similar trend was found in the major soil microarthropods. Other groups of rare soil microarthropods such as Symphyla, Protura and Spirobilida, even though present in a small proportion, might be important indicators for soil conditions.

Acari and collembolans dominated the soil community in all three areas, as they are groups with very high taxonomic diversity (Singh, 1977). Many researchers reported that Acari and collembolans dominated a wide range of habitats, including roadside, green roof, teak forest, hill evergreen forest, dry dipterocarp forest and agricultural areas (Cortet et al., 2002; Farská et al., 2014; Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014; Rumble and Gange, 2013; Tabaglio et al., 2009; Widyastuti, 2004) (Table 21). Acari have diverse feeding habits and living areas, and some of them have structures that assist in hunting. Oribatid mites, the dominant acari in the non-reforested area and reforestation area at 2-year, have exoskeleton that enables them to survive in dry conditions better than other soft bodied mites. The low soil moisture and high soil temperature of the non-reforested area would have minimal effects on oribatid mites due to their ability to resist the unfavorable conditions (Gergócs and Hufnagel, 2009; Malmström, 2008; Starzomski and Srivastava, 2007), while some soft bodied arthropods cannot survive in this area. Furthermore, the 2-year reforestation area was found to be highly infected with ectomycorrhizal fungi, providing fungal mycelium that could be an important food source of Oribatid mites as well as collembolans (Behan-Pelletier, 1999; Devi et al., 2012; Lindberg et al., 2002; Siddiky et al., 2012). Although collembolans were in all three areas, there was a difference in abundance between the reforestation area containing seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi and the non-reforested area. The tendency was apparent with increasing age of the seedlings. Moreover, soil moisture was positively correlated with the abundance of oribatid mites and collembolans in the non-reforested area and reforestation area at 1-year. The reforestation area at 2-year did not exhibit this relationship because the soil in this area can retain the soil moisture well. Rumble and Gange (2013) also reported that collembolan density was negatively affected by high temperature and low soil moisture.

Symphyla, Protura and Spirobolida can only be found in reforestation areas. Proturans were negatively correlated with soil temperature. Soil temperature in the non-reforested area was higher than other areas since there was no canopy cover and soil moisture was poorly retained. Symphylans were positively correlated with soil moisture and were more abundance in the wet season than dry season. Rumble and Gange (2013) reported that drought negatively affected symphylans. Symphylans, proturans and spirobolids were only found in restoration because they are relatively sensitive to the changes of soil moisture, and forest restoration helps retain moisture in the soil and are suitable for soft-bodied soil microarthropods that are relatively sensitive to environmental change. The reforested areas in this study have the abundance of Protura and Symphyla more than the natural dry evergreen forest and dry dipterocarp forest at Sakaerat environmental Research Station, Nakhon Ratchasima Province (Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014), teak forest in India (Widyastuti, 2004) and eucalyptus Plantations in India (Nazia and Sanil, 2015) (Table 22). Verhoef and Witteveen (1980) and Kardol et al. (2011) reported that many soft-bodied animals are sensitive to desiccation during dry conditions, and they can be used as good bioindicators. On the other hand, pseudoscorpions were mostly found in the non-reforested area. However, the reforestation areas at 1-year and 2-year had variety of predators, but they had low abundance of pseudoscorpions probably in part because of reduced competition in area with other predators. Pseudoscorpions have hard external structures to make them possible to live in an arid area better than other soft-bodied predators, such as mesostigmatid mites and diplurans.

The abundance of Diplura (Family Japygidae) which are soft-bodied predators increased over the progression of early stage reforestation. They were also negatively correlated with soil temperature in the non-reforested area and positively correlated with soil moisture and with soil temperature in the reforestation area at 2-year. The 2-year reforestation area can retain soil moisture well and the soil temperature was in the range suitable for soil microarthropods. Diplurans reflect the clear difference between the non-reforested area and the reforestation area.

The non-reforested area and reforestation areas at 1-year and 2-year were mainly composed of detrito-fungivore group. The most common detrito-fungivore groups were oribatid mites and collembolans. Siddiky (2012) showed that mycorrhizae increased the collembolan population because collembolans may feed on mycorrhizae (Devi et al., 2012; Lindberg et al., 2002; Siddiky et al., 2012) and oribatid mites feed on a wide variety of materials, including living and dead plant and fungi (Behan-Pelletier, 1999). However, proturans are detrito-fungivores and were only found in reforestation area with high retention of soil moisture, and they are rather sensitive to soil moisture. Detrito-fungivore group was found in the nonreforested area more than other areas because oribatid mites dominated in the dry area (Wallwork, 1983). Oribatid mites have the hard external structure and can live by feeding fungi and organic matters. They can also benefit from reduced competition with collembolans and other detritivores, which cannot live in the dry conditions. Group of detrito-fungivores and detritivore are likely to induce predatory soil microarthropods. Mesostigmatid mites and diplurans were the dominated predators in reforestation areas. Reforestation areas have retained soil moisture well, so softbodied predators, such as mesoatigmatids and diplurans can be found, while pseudoscorpions can live in either wet or dry area and they were mostly found in the non-reforested area. Moreover, mesostigmatid mites were more numerous at constant temperature (Huhta and Hänninen, 2001). Pseudoscorpions were found in reforestation area only during the dry season during which the soft-bodied predators depopulate particularly Acari and Geophiromorpha.

Analysis of the diversity index and similarity index showed the non-difference among the three areas. This might be because the soil was inverted from the 3meter depth subsoil where microarthropods were not expected to live in that condition. Thus, soil microarthropods may disperse passively by water or actively by migration (Ojala and Huhta, 2001) from surrounding area. Furthermore, the Shannon-Weiner diversity index values were  $0.93\pm0.03$ , and higher than the dipterocarpus forest at Sakaerat Environmental Research Station (0.64±0.05) (Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014).

# 5.3 Projection of future abundance and composition of soil microathropods in the area

This pattern of forest restoration demonstrates the change of factors in area when increasing age of plant and the ability to retain moisture in the area increased as well. The changes of soil composition, canopy cover of seedlings and percent infection of ectomycorrhiza fungi associated with the change of roots and canopy. These components support the increase in abundance of soil microarthropods, particularly detrito-fungivore and soft-bodied microarthropods. The analysis of morphospecies accumulation curve shows a continuous increase in the number of morphospecies, especially in areas with forestation. This restoration pattern reduces period of restoration area and induced increases in the abundance and diversity of soil microarthropods.

hulalongkorn University

# 5.4 The benefits of reforestation with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ECM fungi

The soil in this study area was obtained from pond excavation during which 3 m depth of soil was inverted. The result of environmental factors and soil microarthropods community during planting at different stages showed that some differences between factors with an increasing trend of soil microarthropods abundance with increasing age of seedling. This pattern of reforestation will help increasing survival rate of the plants in dry conditions (Arenla and Ajungla, 2014) and induced shifts in abundance and composition of soil microarthropods in the area. Soil microarthropods are important to the ecosystem and changes of soil quality in

decomposition process (Ford, 1937; Heneghan and Bolger, 1998). Thus, the increase in abundance and diversity of soil microarthropods can be used as biological indicators for soil quality of changes occurring in the area (Lindberg et al., 2002) and will help in monitoring, planning, managing, and recovery of forest ecosystems.

Area	Abundance (individual/m <sup>2</sup> )	Reference
Non-reforested area	2,496	
One-year reforestation area	2,989	This study
Two year reforestation area	3,596	
Teak forest in India	771	Widyastuti, 2004
Dry evergreen forest at Sakaerat		Kananimunalanan duat
environmental Research Station,	3,381	Nonghirundonsuk et
Thailand		at., 2014
Dry dipterocarp forest at Sakaerat	Kananimuselenende et	
environmental Research Station,	685	
Thailand		at., 2014

### Table 22 The abundance of soil microarthropods in tropical forests

	Abu	Indance		
Area	(indiv	ridual/m²)	Reference	
-	Acari	Collembola	-	
Non-reforested area	2080	373		
One-year reforestation area	2292	514	This study	
Two year reforestation area	2678	763		
Teak forest in India	261	490	Widyastuti, 2004	
Dry evergreen forest at Sakaerat environmental Research Station, Thailand	2401	46	Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014	
Dry dipterocarp forest at Sakaerat environmental Research Station, Thailand	434	313	Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014	

Table 23 The abundance of Acari and Collembola in tropical forests

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	Abun	dance		
Area	(individ	lual/m <sup>2</sup> )	Reference	
	Protura	Symphyla		
Non-reforested area	0	0		
One-year reforestation area	32	67	This study	
Two year reforestation area	9	61		
Teak forest in India	6	13	Widyastuti, 2004	
Dry evergreen forest at Sakaerat environmental	0	34	Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014	
Research Station				
Dry dipterocarp forest at Sakaerat environmental Research Station	0	7	Kongnirundonsuk et al., 2014	
	- marken			

Table 24 The abundance of Protura and Symphyla in tropical forests

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# CHAPTER VI

Soil microarthropods have an important role in the litter decomposition, nutrient cycling and soil formation. Reforestation with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ectomycorrhizal (ECM) fungi resulted in the increase of the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods, especially with increasing age of seedlings, as shown in this research (Figure 58).



Figure 58 Framework of the study

The reforestation areas with dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ECM fungi had significantly higher abundance of soil microarthropods than the non-reforested area. Overall, the dominant soil microarthropod groups were Acari and Collembola which were observed to be in high abundance in all areas. Some soil microarthropods that were sensitive to dry conditions, such as symphylans,

spilobolids, geophilomorph and proturans, were significantly higher in abundance in the reforested areas, and could be used as bioindicators. Dipterocarpus seedlings inoculated with ECM fungi appeared to attract the detrito-fungivorous microarthropods. Species richness of soil microarthropods increased with the age of reforestation, resulting from additional Acari species found in the reforestation plots.

Analyses of the physical and biological factors in the reforestation areas showed that the changes in the soil characteristics, including soil water holding capacity and soil moisture, increased in the reforestation areas with the increasing age of seedlings. Soil microarthropods were positively correlated with soil moisture in the non-reforested area, indicating that reforestation increased the soil potential to retain moisture.

This study showed that the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods increased over the progression of the early stage of reforestation. The increase was explained by the changes in environmental factors, particularly increasing soil moisture and lower soil temperature.

#### Recommendations

#### II ALONGKODN HNIVERGITY

Future studies may focus on long-term exploration of plant and animal communities during stages of reforestation. The results of this study showed that increasing age of plants and changes in environmental factors, such as soil moisture, canopy cover, and percent ectomycorrhizal infection, affected the soil microarthropod community. Potentially, proturans and Symphyla can be used as bioindicators to monitor the progress of the early stages of forest restoration. In addition, comparing the diversity and abundance of soil microarthropods in the reforestation areas to that of the mature forests in the vicinity may help assess the progress or success of forest restoration. From the result of this study, soil moisture is the main factor determining the diversity and the abundance of soil

microarthropods and is correlated with other factors. The restoration forest in the future may attempt to increase the soil moisture retention ability of the landscape by employing methods, such as ground covering or mixing moisture-retaining materials in the planting soil, to promote the growth and survival of seedlings and associated ECM fungi as well as soil fauna.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### REFERENCES

- Appanah, S. and Turnbull, J.M. 1998. <u>A review of dipterocarps: taxonomy, ecology,</u> <u>and silviculture</u>. California.
- Arenla, S. and Ajungla, T. 2014. Effect of soil moisture and soil pH of ectomycorrhizal colonization on dipterocarpus retusus blume seedlings. <u>International Journal of Life Sciences Biotechnology and Pharma Research</u> 3: 102-107.
- Bais, H.P., Weir, T.L., Perry, L.G., Gilroy, S. and Vivanco, J.M. 2006. The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. <u>Annual</u> <u>Review of Plant Biology</u> 57: 233-266.
- Bardgett, R., Whittaker, J. and Frankland, J. 1993. The diet and food preferences of Onychiurus procampatus (Collembola) from upland grassland soils. <u>Biology</u> <u>and fertility of soils</u> 16: 296-298.
- Behan-Pelletier, V.M. 1999. Oribatid mite biodiversity in agroecosystems: role for bioindication. <u>Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment</u> 74: 411-423.
- Behan-Pelletier, V.M. 2003. Acari and Collembola biodiversity in Canadian agricultural soils. <u>Canadian Journal of Soil Science</u> 83: 279-288.
- Braun-Blanquet, J. 1932. Plant sociology. The study of plant communities. <u>Plant</u> <u>sociology. The study of plant communities. First ed.</u>
- Briones, M.J.I. 2014. Soil fauna and soil functions: a jigsaw puzzle. <u>Frontiers in</u> <u>Environmental Science</u> 2: 1-22.
- Bücking, H., Kuhn, A.J., Schröder, W.H. and Heyser, W. 2002. The fungal sheath of ectomycorrhizal pine roots: an apoplastic barrier for the entry of calcium, magnesium, and potassium into the root cortex? <u>Journal of Experimental</u> <u>Botany</u> 53: 1659-1669.
- Chao, R.-F. and Chen, C.-S. 1996. The genus Eosentomon of Taiwan (Protura: Eosentomidae). <u>Chinese Journal of Entomology</u> 16: 303-321.
- Coleman, D.C., Crossley, D. and Hendrix, P.F. 2004. <u>Fundamentals of soil ecology</u>. Academic press.

Complex, C.L.G. 2016. <u>Soil analysis</u>. [Online]. Available from:

http://clgc.agri.kps.ku.ac.th/ [11 December 2016]

- Cortet, J., et al. 2002. Impacts of different agricultural practices on the biodiversity of microarthropod communities in arable crop systems. <u>European Journal of Soil</u> <u>Biology</u> 38: 239-244.
- Crossley, D.A., Mueller, B.R. and Perdue, J.C. 1992. Biotic Diversity in Agroecosystems Biodiversity of microarthropods in agricultural soils: relations to processes. <u>Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment</u> 40: 37-46.
- Devi, W.M., Singh, T.B. and Devi, L.J. 2012. Monthly changes of collembolan population under the gradients of moisture, organic carbon and nitrogen contents in a sub-tropical forest soil, Manipur. <u>Journal of Experimental</u> <u>Sciences</u> 2: 10-12.
- Dindal, D.L. 1990. <u>Soil Biology Guide</u>. Wiley.
- Elliott, S.D., Blakesley, D. and Hardwick, K. 2013. <u>Restoring tropical forests: a practical</u> <u>guide</u>. Royal Botanic Gardens.
- Eo, J. and Nakamoto, T. 2008. Spatial relationships between roots and soil organisms under different tillage systems. <u>european journal of soil biology</u> 44: 277-282.
- Ertel, J., Alberts, J. and Price, M. 1991. Transformation of riverine organic matter in estuaries. in <u>Georgia Water Resources Conference</u>. pp. 309-312. July 26, 2016. The University of Georgia. Georgia.
- Farská, J., Prejzková, K. and Rusek, J. 2014. Management intensity affects traits of soil microarthropod community in montane spruce forest. <u>Applied Soil Ecology</u> 75: 71-79.
- Ford, J. 1937. Fluctuations in natural populations of Collembola and Acarina. <u>The</u> <u>Journal of Animal Ecology</u> 7: 98-111.
- Gergócs, V. and Hufnagel, L. 2009. Application of oribatid mites as indicators. <u>Applied</u> <u>Ecology and Environmental Research</u> 7: 79-98.

Googlemap. 2016. <u>Chula Saraburi map</u>. [Online]. Available from: <u>https://www.google.co.th/maps/search/Chula+saraburi</u> [27 April 2016]

- Gormsen, D., Olsson, P.A. and Hedlund, K. 2004. The influence of collembolans and earthworms on AM fungal mycelium. <u>Applied Soil Ecology</u> 27: 211-220.
- Griswold, C., Coddington, J., Hormiga, G. and Scharff, N. 1998. Phylogeny of the orbweb building spiders (Araneae, Orbiculariae: Deinopoidea, Araneoidea). <u>Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society</u> 123: 1-99.
- Hågvar, S. 1998. The relevance of the Rio-Convention on biodiversity to conserving the biodiversity of soils. <u>Applied Soil Ecology</u> 9: 1-7.
- Harte, J., Rawa, A. and Price, V. 1996. Effects of manipulated soil microclimate on mesofaunal biomass and diversity. <u>Soil Biology and Biochemistry</u> 28: 313-322.
- Heneghan, L. and Bolger, T. 1998. Soil microarthropod contribution to forest ecosystem processes: the importance of observational scale. <u>Plant and Soil</u> 205: 113-124.
- Hopkin, S.P. 1997. Biology of the springtails: (Insecta: Collembola). OUP Oxford.
- Huhta, V. and Hänninen, S.-M. 2001. Effects of temperature and moisture fluctuations on an experimental soil microarthropod community. <u>Pedobiologia</u> 45: 279-286.
- Ingleby, K., Munro, R.C., Noor, M., Mason, P.A. and Clearwater, M.J. 1998. Ectomycorrhizal populations and growth of Shorea parvifolia (Dipterocarpaceae) seedlings regenerating under three different forest canopies following logging. <u>Forest Ecology and Management</u> 111: 171-179.
- James, P.B. 1949. Competition Between Sagebrush Seedlings and Reseeded Grasses. <u>Ecology</u> 30: 512-519.
- Johnson, N.F. and Triplehorn, C.A. 2004. Borror and Delong's introduction to the study of insects. <u>Brooks and Cole Publishers, Belmont, California</u>.
- Kaplunovsky, A.S. 2005. Factor analysis in environmental studies. <u>International</u> <u>Journal of Engineering Science</u> 2: 54-94.
- Kardol, P., Reynolds, W.N., Norby, R.J. and Classen, A.T. 2011. Climate change effects on soil microarthropod abundance and community structure. <u>Applied Soil</u> <u>Ecology</u> 47: 37-44.
- Koehler, H. 1999. Predatory mites (Gamasina, Mesostigmata). <u>Agriculture, ecosystems</u> <u>& environment</u> 74: 395-410.

Kongnirundonsuk, K., Chinsamran, K., Taksintum, W. and Sutthiwises, S. 2014. Diversity of soil microarthropods at Sakaerat environmental research station. <u>Rajabhat</u> <u>Journal of Sciences, Humanities and Social Sciences</u> 15: 45-53.

Krebs, C.J. 1989. Ecological methodology. Harper and Row New York.

- Lee, S. 1998. Root symbiosis and nutrition. Bogor, Indonesia.
- Lindberg, N., Engtsson, J.B. and Persson, T. 2002. Effects of experimental irrigation and drought on the composition and diversity of soil fauna in a coniferous stand. Journal of Applied Ecology 39: 924-936.
- Madsen, P. and Larsen, J.B. 1997. Regeneration Success and Early Growth of Forest StandsNatural regeneration of beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) with respect to canopy density, soil moisture and soil carbon content. <u>Forest Ecology and</u> <u>Management</u> 97: 95-105.
- Malmström, A. 2008. Temperature tolerance in soil microarthropods: Simulation of forest-fire heating in the laboratory. <u>Pedobiologia</u> 51: 419-426.
- Malmström, A. and Persson, T. 2011. Responses of Collembola and Protura to tree girdling–some support for ectomycorrhizal feeding. <u>Soil Science Society of</u> <u>America</u> 83: 279-285.
- Marx, D.H. 1972. Ectomycorrhizae as biological deterrents to pathogenic root infections. <u>Annual Review of Phytopathology</u> 10: 429-454.
- Moore, J.C., Walter, D.E. and Hunt, H.W. 1988. Arthropod regulation of micro-and mesobiota in below-ground detrital food webs. <u>Annual review of entomology</u> 33: 419-435.
- Naeth, M., Bailey, A., Chanasyk, D. and Pluth, D. 1991. Water holding capacity of litter and soil organic matter in mixed prairie and fescue grassland ecosystems of Alberta. Journal of Range management 44: 13-17.
- Nazia, A. and Sanil, R. 2015. Micro-arthropod Diversity with Special Emphasis to Collembolans in Eucalyptus Plantations of the Nilgiris, Tamil Nadu. <u>International Journal of Environmental Sciences</u> 5: 927-934.
- Neher, D., Barbercheck, M., Collins, W. and Qualset, C. 1999. <u>Biodiversity in</u> <u>agroecosystems</u>. Boca Raton, Florida.

- Nyffeler, M. and Sunderland, K.D. 2003. Composition, abundance and pest control potential of spider communities in agroecosystems: a comparison of European and US studies. <u>Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment</u> 95: 579-612.
- Ojala, R. and Huhta, V. 2001. Dispersal of microarthropods in forest soil. <u>Pedobiologia</u> 45: 443-450.
- Parwez, H. and Sharma, N. 2014. Effect of Edaphic Factors on the Population Density of Soil Microarthropods in Agro Forestry Habitat. <u>Journal of Agroecology and</u> <u>Natural Resource Management 1</u>: 187-190.
- Phosri, C., Põlme, S., Taylor, A.S., Kõljalg, U., Suwannasai, N. and Tedersoo, L. 2012. Diversity and community composition of ectomycorrhizal fungi in a dry deciduous dipterocarp forest in Thailand. <u>Biodiversity and Conservation</u> 21: 2287-2298.
- Pimentel, D. and Paoletti, M.G. 2012. Biotic diversity in agroecosystems. Elsevier.
- Ponge, J.-F. 2003. Humus forms in terrestrial ecosystems: a framework to biodiversity. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35: 935-945.
- Porazinska, D.L., et al. 2003. Relationships at the aboveground-belowground interface: plants, soil biota, and soil processes. <u>Ecological Monographs</u> 73: 377-395.
- Read, D.J. 1991. Mycorrhizas in ecosystems. Experientia 47: 376-391.
- Root, R.B. 1967. The Niche Exploitation Pattern of the Blue-Gray Gnatcatcher. <u>Ecological Monographs</u> 37: 317-350.
- Rumble, H. and Gange, A.C. 2013. Soil microarthropod community dynamics in extensive green roofs. <u>Ecological engineering</u> 57: 197-204.
- Rusek, J. 1998. Biodiversity of Collembola and their functional role in the ecosystem. <u>Biodiversity and Conservation</u> 7: 1207-1219.
- Saitoh, S., Fujii, S. and Takeda, H. 2011. Evaluation of the bottom-up force of accumulated organic matter on microarthropods in a temperate forest floor. <u>European Journal of Soil Biology</u> 47: 409-413.
- Sakakibara, S.M., et al. 2002. A comparison of ectomycorrhiza identification based on morphotyping and PCR-RFLP analysis. <u>Mycological Research</u> 106: 868-878.

- Sakchoowong, W., Nomura, S., Ogata, K. and Chanpaisaeng, J. 2007. Comparison of extraction efficiency between Winkler and Tullgren extractors for tropical leaf litter macroarthropods. <u>Thai Journal of Agricultural Science</u> 40: 97-105.
- See, L.S. 1992. <u>Some aspects of the biology of mycorrhizas of the Dipterocarpaceae</u>. University of Aberdeen.
- Siddiky, M.R.K., Kohler, J., Cosme, M. and Rillig, M.C. 2012. Soil biota effects on soil structure: Interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal mycelium and collembola. <u>Soil Biology and Biochemistry</u> 50: 33-39.
- Singh, U.R. 1977. Relationship between the Population Density of Soil Microarthropods and Mycoflora Associated with Litter and the Total Litter Respiration on the Floor of a Sal Forest in Varanasi, India. <u>Ecological Bulletins</u> 463-470.
- Smith, S.E., Smith, F.A. and Jakobsen, I. 2003. Mycorrhizal fungi can dominate phosphate supply to plants irrespective of growth responses. <u>Plant physiology</u> 133: 16-20.
- SoilSensor. 2011. <u>Soil textural triangle [Online]</u>. Available from: <u>http://www.soilsensor.com/</u> [26 March 2011]
- Starzomski, B.M. and Srivastava, D.S. 2007. Landscape geometry determines community response to disturbance. <u>Oikos</u> 116: 690-699.
- Stibig, H.J., Achard, F. and Fritz, S. 2004. A new forest cover map of continental southeast Asia derived from SPOT-VEGETATION satellite imagery. <u>Applied</u> <u>Vegetation Science</u> 7: 153-162.
- Stork, N.E. 1988. Insect diversity: facts, fiction and speculation. <u>Biological journal of</u> <u>the Linnean Society</u> 35: 321-337.
- Sumanothum, N. 2007. <u>Effects of Permethrin on Non-target Microarthropods in</u> <u>Agricultural Soil.</u> Doctoral dissertation, Environmental Biology Mahidol University.
- Swift, M.J., Heal, O.W. and Anderson, J.M. 1979. <u>Decomposition in terrestrial</u> <u>ecosystems</u>. California.

- Sylvia, D.M., Fuhrmann, J.J., Hartel, P.G. and Zuberer, D.A. 2005. <u>Principles and applications of soil microbiology</u>. Pearson Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, New Jerse.
- Tabaglio, V., Gavazzi, C. and Menta, C. 2009. Physico-chemical indicators and microarthropod communities as influenced by no-till, conventional tillage and nitrogen fertilisation after four years of continuous maize. <u>Soil and Tillage research</u> 105: 135-142.
- Taiz, L. and Zeiger, E. 2002. <u>Photosynthesis: physiological and ecological</u> <u>considerations</u>. California.
- Tamm, J.C. 1984. Surviving long submergence in the egg stage—a successful strategy of terrestrial arthropods living on flood plains (Collembola, Acari, Diptera). <u>Oecologia</u> 61: 417-419.
- Tennakoon, M., Gunatilleke, I., Hafeel, K., Seneviratne, G., Gunatilleke, C. and Ashton,
  P. 2005. Ectomycorrhizal colonization and seedling growth of Shorea (Dipterocarpaceae) species in simulated shade environments of a Sri Lankan rain forest. <u>Forest Ecology and Management</u> 208: 399-405.
- Tsiafouli, M.A., Kallimanis, A.S., Katana, E., Stamou, G.P. and Sgardelis, S.P. 2005. Responses of soil microarthropods to experimental short-term manipulations of soil moisture. <u>Applied Soil Ecology</u> 29: 17-26.
- Turnbull, M.S. and Lindo, Z. 2015. Combined effects of abiotic factors on Collembola communities reveal precipitation may act as a disturbance. <u>Soil Biology and Biochemistry</u> 82: 36-43.
- Verhoef, H. and Witteveen, J. 1980. Water balance in Collembola and its relation to habitat selection; cuticular water loss and water uptake. <u>Journal of Insect</u> <u>Physiology</u> 26: 201-208.
- Wallwork, J.A. 1983. Oribatids in forest ecosystems. <u>Annual Review of Entomology</u> 28: 109-130.
- Widyastuti, R. 2004. Abundance, biomass and diversity of soil fauna at different ecosystems in Jakenan, Pati, Central Java. <u>Jurnal tanah dan Lingkungan</u> 6: 1-6.
- Wikipedia, C. 2016. <u>Saraburi Province</u>. [Online]. Available from: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Saraburi\_Province</u> [26 July 2016]

- Wischmeier, W.H. and Mannering, J. 1969. Relation of soil properties to its erodibility. Soil Science Society of America Journal 33: 131-137.
- Wu, P., Liu, X., Liu, S., Wang, J. and Wang, Y. 2014. Composition and spatio-temporal variation of soil microarthropods in the biodiversity hotspot of northern Hengduan Mountains, China. <u>European Journal of Soil Biology</u> 62: 30-38.
- Yamanaka, T. 2003. The effect of pH on the growth of saprotrophic and ectomycorrhizal ammonia fungi in vitro. <u>Mycologia</u> 95: 584-589.
- Yazid, S.M., Lee, S.S. and Lapeyrie, F. 1994. Growth stimulation of Hopea spp.
  (Dipterocarpaceae) seedlings following ectomycorrhizal inoculation with an exotic strain of Pisolithus tinctorius. <u>Forest Ecology and Management</u> 67: 339-343.
- Zeh, D.W. 1987. Aggression, Density, and Sexual Dimorphism in Chernetid Pseudoscorpions (Arachnida: Pseudoscorpionida). <u>Evolution</u> 41: 1072-1087.
- Zhang, Z.-Q. 2003. <u>Mites of greenhouses: identification, biology and control</u>. London, UK.
- Zhao, Z., Cai, Y., Fu, M. and Bai, Z. 2008. Response of the soils of different land use types to drought: Eco-physiological characteristics of plants grown on the soils by pot experiment. <u>ecological engineering</u> 34: 215-222.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Months	Abund	dance (individuals / m	2)
MONTINS	RF0	RF1	RF2
October 2014	1785	3877	1854
November 2014	2556	3144	3225
December 2014	1015	2958	2375
January 2015	1235	2163	4063
February 2015	463	1217	2335
March 2015	3790	3103	6800
April 2015	3805	1565	2746
May 2015	3623	1825	3288
June 2015	4050	3300	5675
July 2015	2275	3700	4800
August 2015	3125	5750	6725
September 2015	3625	2400	2100
October 2015	1900	4000	2250

**Table A-1** Abundance of soil microarthropods in each month between October 2014 to October 2015 in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

	S	oil temperature (°C)	
Months	RF0	RF1	RF2
October 2014	28.12	28.64	27.91
November 2014	27.58	27.52	26.33
December 2014	26.54	27.53	28.79
January 2015	24.64	24.71	24.24
February 2015	29.63	26.21	27.95
March 2015	28.90	30.14	27.05
April 2015	28.70	28.95	29.22
May 2015	34.91	31.39	30.13
June 2015	31.05	31.18	32.91
July 2015	31.12	32.38	31.11
August 2015	30.18	30.40	30.22
September 2015	30.13	29.65	29.81
October 2015	35.68	33.18	31.58

**Table A-2** Soil temperature in each month between October 2014 to October 2015 in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

Months	Soil moi	Soil moisture (%)			
MOLITIS	RFO	RF1	RF2		
October 2014	10.62	17.11	16.53		
November 2014	10.87	11.93	12.61		
December 2014	7.54	7.72	13.92		
January 2015	5.34	7.96	9.52		
February 2015	3.65	4.95	5.23		
March 2015	10.52	13.20	12.36		
April 2015	13.42	14.28	13.07		
May 2015	7.64	10.24	11.12		
June 2015	11.52	16.21	15.80		
July 2015	5.88	7.07	9.56		
August 2015	12.68	17.10	15.84		
September 2015	14.46	18.20	17.81		
October 2015	5.86	10.82	11.12		

**Table A-3** Soil moisture in each month between October 2014 to October 2015 in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

**UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

Months	Organic ma	atter (%)	
MOLICITS	RF0	RF1	RF2
October 2014	1.13	1.05	0.60
November 2014	1.48	1.83	1.05
December 2014	0.55	0.87	0.45
January 2015	1.04	0.89	0.38
February 2015	0.55	1.14	1.17
March 2015	0.85	1.37	0.88
April 2015	0.60	0.86	0.74
May 2015	1.00	0.68	0.87
June 2015	0.61	0.50	2.10
July 2015	0.74	1.03	0.72
August 2015	0.46	0.24	0.22
September 2015	0.23	0.25	0.16
October 2015	0.30	0.31	0.18

**Table A-4** Soil organic matter in each month between October 2014 to October2015 in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2)stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

**GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

Months	Herbace	eous biomass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	)
WOTITIS	RF0	RF1	RF2
October 2014	334	171	216
November 2014	82	180	164
December 2014	103	198	294
January 2015	173	191	261
February 2015	0	0	0
March 2015	152	160	68
April 2015	202	180	143
May 2015	289	301	467
June 2015	168	162	161
July 2015	373	502	202
August 2015	580	410	482
September 2015	326	701	564
October 2015	224	281	603

**Table A-5** Herbaceous biomass in each month between October 2014 to October2015 in the dipterocarpus reforestation areas at the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2)stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

**Chulalongkorn University** 

Months	He	erbaceous cover (%)	
WOLTERS	RF0	RF1	RF2
October 2014	100.00	87.92	86.67
November 2014	46.25	62.08	60.83
December 2014	35.42	90.00	72.92
January 2015	42.92	66.67	67.50
February 2015	0.00	0.00	0.00
March 2015	50.00	47.50	15.42
April 2015	57.08	54.17	56.25
May 2015	38.33	68.33	84.17
June 2015	58.33	55.83	79.17
July 2015	66.67	77.08	0.00
August 2015	83.75	64.17	68.75
September 2015	42.08	80.83	61.67
October 2015	23.33	83.75	63.75

**Table A-6** Herbaceous cover in each month in the dipterocarpus reforestation areasat the 1-year (RF1) and 2-year (RF2) stages and the non-reforested area (RF0).

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Source of variation	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	<i>p</i> -value
Acari	11776075.524	2	5888037.762	2.224	0.115
Collembola	78713.104	2	39356.552	0.042	0.958
Protura	13348.807	2	6674.404	2.715	0.073
Diplura	18928.538	2	9464.269	7.986	0.001
Symphyla	63467.390	2	31733.695	7.507	0.001
Spirobolida	472.705	2	236.353	1.035	0.361
Pseudoscorpionida	1930.578	2	965.289	12.306	0.000
Araneae	4232.791	2	2116.395	1.201	0.037
Geophilomorpha	5330.765	2	2665.382	4.663	0.012

Table A-7 One way ANOVA to compare the abundance between areas



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Source of	Sum of	df	Moon Square	E	
variation	Squares	u	Mean Square	Г	p-value
Detrito-fungivore	8729334.678	2	4364667.339	1.857	0.164
Detritivore	287328.314	2	143664.157	4.785	0.011
Predator	9198400.394	2	4599200.197	10.019	0.000

 Table
 A-8
 One way ANOVA to compare guilds abundant between areas



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Source of variation	Sum of	df	Mean	Б	p-
	Squares		Square	Г	value
Sand	886.9	2	443.4	4.7	0.015
Silt	1563.6	2	781.8	7.5	0.002
Clay	177.7	2	88.9	2.8	0.074
WHC (%)	87.7	2	43.9	42.9	< 0.001
Available N (mg/kg)	16.8	2	8.4	0.6	0.546
Available P (mg/kg)	75.2	2	37.6	1.2	0.317
Available K (mg/kg)	21634.9	2	10817.5	7.3	0.004
Soil temperature (°C)	1.5	2	0.8	4.3	0.022
Soil moisture (%)	83.7	2	41.9	93.6	< 0.001
Organic matter (%)	0.05	2	0.03	0.2	0.805
Herbaceous biomass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	59.8	2	29.9	3.9	0.029
Herbaceous cover (%)	590.3	2	295.2	2.595	0.090

Table A-9 One way ANOVA to compare the environmental factors between areas

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Р	VIF
Constant	1310.69	653.56	2.00	0.05	
Soil moisture	157.18	54.57	2.88	0.007	1.00

Table A-10 Multiple linear regression (Model 1)

### Table A-11 Multiple linear regression (Model 2)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Р	VIF
Constant	-1926.56	2146.87	-0.90	0.35	
Age of seedling	520.31	222.82	2.34	0.03	1.02
Soil temperature	124.92	71.46	1.74	0.09	1.02

# Table A-12 Multiple linear regression (Model 3)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Ρ	VIF
Constant	-9.41	372.4	-0.03	0.98	
Soil moisture	61.47	31.09	1.98	0.06	1.00
	No.	10			

# Table A-13 Multiple linear regression (Model 4)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	TY t	Ρ	VIF
Constant	-20.57	16.20	-1.27	0.21	
Soil moisture	3.06	1.35	2.26	0.03	1.00

### Table A-14 Multiple linear regression (Model 5)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Р	VIF
Constant	E0 02	21.42	2 2 7	0.22	
	-20.02	21.45	-2.51	0.25	
Soil moisture	6.50	1.89	3.44	0.02	1.28
Organic matter	-2.80	0.84	-3.34	0.02	1.34
Herbaceous biomass	2.08	0.71	2.96	0.05	1.29

Table A-15 N	Multiple I	linear regi	ression	(Model	6)
--------------	------------	-------------	---------	--------	----

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Ρ	VIF
Constant	-9.07	4.90	-1.85	0.07	
Soil moisture	0.77	0.44	1.76	0.08	1.18
Herbaceous biomass	0.24	0.16	1.45	0.16	1.18

## Table A-16 Multiple linear regression (Model 7)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Ρ	VIF
Constant	-2306.14	879.74	-2.62	0.01	
Soil temperature	101.87	29.28	3.48	0.001	1.02
Age of seedling	196.65	91.31	2.15	0.04	1.02

## Table A-17 Multiple linear regression (Model 8)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Р	VIF
Constant	129.07	467.32	0.28	0.78	
Soil moisture	123.61	39.02	3.17	0.003	1.00

#### หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลั

## Table A-18 Multiple linear regression (Model 9)

	Coefficient	Std. Error	t	Ρ	VIF
Constant	2229.02	764.93	2.91	0.006	
Soil temperature	-63.22	25.89	-2.44	0.02	1.04
Organic matter	-18.81	7.96	-2.36	0.02	1.05
Herbaceous cover	6.87	2.48	2.77	0.01	1.00

#### VITA

Miss Chadaphorn Seweewallop was born on July 12, 1991 in Rayong Province, Thailand. In 2013, she graduated with a Bachelor's degree from the Conservation biology program, Faculty of Science, Mahidol University. Then she obtained her Masters of Science in Zoology from the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in 2016.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University